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MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good afternoon, everyone.  Today is the eighth day of the hearing of applications EB-2005-0001 and EB‑2005‑0437, submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.


This afternoon, we will begin the cross‑examination of the panel on rate-300.


I am hoping to take a break around 2:30, so if parties can keep that in mind as we go forward.  Are there any appearances we haven't yet earlier noted in this proceeding?  No.  There are so many of you out there.


Any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. O'LEARY:  Just one, Madam Chair.  I just wanted to indicate to the Board that there has been an updated rate case schedule that has been worked on and Mr. Battista is now providing you with, and that is the current reflection of where parties start in respect to their expectation in terms of cross‑examining the various panels.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Any other preliminary matters?  Mr. O'Leary, would you like to introduce your panel and have them sworn?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 4:

Malini Giridhar; Sworn

Jackie Collier; Sworn

EXAMINATION BY O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, as you are aware, this panel will be addressing issue 18.3, which appears in the issues list and is described as the timing and changes to all aspects of EGD's Rate 300, 305, 310 and 315 rate schedules.  And the witness panel consists of Ms. Giridhar and Ms. Collier, and may I first start with Ms. Giridhar?  


Would you please confirm that the evidence of the company, which is pre-filed at Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 1, was prepared by you under your direction and supervision?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  And the responses to the interrogatories by the company, were they similarly prepared under your direction or with your supervision?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  Do you adopt them for the purpose of your evidence here?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I do.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Ms. Collier, same question.  Do you adopt the evidence the company has filed both in its pre-file and in response to interrogatories as your evidence for this proceeding?


MS. COLLIER:  Yes, I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  It was prepared by you and under your direction or supervision?


MS. COLLIER:  Yes, it was.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Perhaps I could start with you, Ms. Collier.  What is your position with the company and role relative to this particular issue?


MS. COLLIER:  I am the manager of rate design for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  I am responsible for designing the rates to recover the company's cost of service.


MR. O'LEARY:  And Ms. Giridhar? 


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm manager rate research and design of the company, and I'm responsible for cost allocation and rate design.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, we had prepared a little more extensive examination in‑chief, but in the interests of seeing that this panel is completed this afternoon, our evidence in‑chief will be quite brief.


We did prepare, which we hope will be of assistance to the Panel and intervenors, a booklet which contains copies of materials that the panel may be taken to, and I've provided Mr. Battista with copies there.  Perhaps I could ask for an exhibit number to be given to the booklet.  I will describe it in a second.


MR. BATTISTA:  We can give the booklet the Exhibit No. K8.1, and it could be characterized as EGDI brief for rate- 300 series issue.

EXHIBIT NO. K8.1:  EGDI BRIEF FOR RATE-300 SERIES ISSUE

MR. O'LEARY:  I should indicate, Madam Chair, that all of the contents, with the exception of one document, is taken out of the evidence that is before the Board.  The one exception is, and we've manually included it at the end of this brief, is a letter from the Board dated June 10th, 2005 dealing with the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review.


And we will have very brief examination.  May I first ask if you could briefly, Ms. Giridhar, describe what are the four rate-300 series of rates which are in issue in this proceeding?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly.  Our rate-300 series is a series of unbundled rates for distribution, load balancing and storage, whereby a customer desiring service would have to take distribution service in a mandatory basis, but could opt or be selective in terms of the other services he or she might choose. 


These rates have been around since the late 1980s.  The company also has bundled rates, which would be a combination of these services that would be seamless to the customer, and all of the company's customers, in fact, take bundled service at this point.


MR. O'LEARY:  Can you please summarize the issues which have arisen in respect of these four rates?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly.  I should mention that a more detailed description of these rates is contained at tab 2 of the brief provided today.  But, quite briefly, the issues with these rates is that even though these rates have been in existence since the late '80s, we don't have any customers taking service currently, except for a landfill gas application.  And the reason is that in the mid 1990s, the company changed its cost allocation methodology for upstream long-haul pipeline in a manner that made bundled rates more attractive, so we had a migration of customers from unbundled rates to bundled rates in the mid '90s.


And the company is currently engaged in the process to reverse those cost allocation changes and, therefore, we think that these rates might again become attractive to a subset of our customers.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  At tab 1 of Exhibit K8.1 is a copy of a relevant portion of the settlement proposal in the RP‑2003‑0203 proceeding.  And in that, it indicates that the company has agreed to undertake certain matters in respect of these rate-300 rates.


Can you please summarize what the company committed to do in that settlement agreement?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly.  In that settlement agreement, the company committed to consider all aspects of these unbundled rates, including certain specific issues that were -‑ that we were asked to look at.  There were three bullet points, and essentially they all had to do with providing greater flexibility to customers, both in terms of multi-facility delivery, storage and balancing, in terms of relieving customers of annual minimum requirements, and also in terms of offering term-differentiated rates.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Can you tell us, Ms. Giridhar, what steps the company has taken, subsequent to that settlement agreement, in fulfilment of its commitments?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The settlement agreement was approved by the Board as part of the 2005 fiscal year proceeding sometime in June of last year.  And immediately after we filed our rate order, a draft rate order for our fiscal 2005 rates sometime in September, We began to ‑‑ began work on the unbundled rates.  


We hired a consultant, R.J. Rudden, sometime at the end of October 2004.  The consultant had a mandate to speak with existing and proposed customers.  Proposed customers were identified as potential power generation customers, but they were by no means exclusive of existing customers.  There were some that were common to both categories.  


We then circulated a strawman proposal that considered and offered the requested features from the 2005 settlement agreement, except for term-differentiated rates.  


We had a stakeholder meeting on February the 1st where the strawman proposal was discussed.  At that meeting, it became obvious that customers were looking for added flexibility beyond what was contained in that proposal.  There was no real consensus on whether the proposal we had was attractive as it stood.  There was a sense that further modifications were desired by some customers. 


 And can you can see the strawman proposal attached ‑‑ I'm sorry, it is not attached here, but it is actually in response to VECC Interrogatory No. 83.  We also have the report from the consultant filed in the brief today under tab 5 here.


MR. O'LEARY:  Ms. Giridhar, these proposed changes to these rates which were the subject of the discussions with various customers; I note they have not been filed for approval in this proceeding.  Can you explain why the company decided not to?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  The company did not really hard work on these proposals.  What we did is we ‑‑ we had to reconsider the timing of filing these proposals.  As I mentioned, there was no real consensus on whether the proposal that we discussed on February the 1st should be filed as is.  In fact, there were some concerns that it lacked certain flexibility features that customers were looking for.  


So from our perspective, the question we had to ask ourselves was:  Should we file or should we not file, and, if we decide to file, should it be filed with further modifications or as is?  And, really, if we filed it without any modifications, would it meet the test of acceptance from customers, because eventually that was the intent; otherwise, you would be sitting in a proceeding such as this arguing about the content of what was filed.


But filing it with those modifications meant that we needed more time to work on those modifications, in particular, because they were looking for more flexibility and because we were looking at the potential addition of large loads in medium term -- mid to medium term for gas‑fired generation, which would be very germane to the issue of whether we could provide that flexibility on a non‑discriminatory basis to all customers.


On the flip side, if we had filed that proposal, we acknowledge that there might have been a small group of customers who would have benefited from having unbundled rates for fiscal 2006, but the vast majority of the existing industrial customers would really find these rates attractive after the full phase-in of the cost allocation changes I referred to earlier with respect to upstream pipe.

     So really, then, the issue was we believed that a delay in terms of filing these proposals, was a good thing, because we could look at adding the modifications customers wanted.  We could look at the rate-stability issues that would arise from having an increase in our customer base and loads, particularly, given that some of the loads we were looking at were likely to be unpredictable, in terms of their gas usage.  

     We also had proceedings that were yet to come, for instance, the Natural Gas Forum report was not out at this point in time, and we didn't know what that would contain, in terms of proceedings to come.  And that was very important for the issue, because storage and gas-fired electricity generation were explicitly to be considered as part of that report.  

     We were awaiting the clean-energy-supply RFP results at that point, so we didn't know what loads would be added in our franchise area.  We had equity issues to deal with, in terms of -- what would this flexibility mean, in terms of cost to our existing customers, in terms of rate stability?  Would we be able to offer these rates in the longer term?  Or was that going to change after the immediate short-term?

     So there were all of these considerations that we needed to look at.  And we didn't know the answers to any of this in February or in March, but we knew that, over the course of 2005, there was going to be better definition of these issues.  We were going to know more information about what kinds of loads might be coming on, and the load-characteristics of these new customers.

     And, overall -- again, keeping in mind that the vast majority of customers would really not meet these rates in 2006, or, potentially, 2007, we felt that a short delay was in everyone's benefit.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  We're now in August of 2005, Ms. Giridhar.  Can you advise me, is there any information or policy decisions that the company is awaiting on, in respect of its further consideration of redesigning these rates?  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Okay.  We now know the results of the clean-energy-supply RFP.  They were known in early June, so we know what projects have been awarded in our franchise area.  

     We also had the Natural Gas Forum report released on March 30th.  It allowed for the gas electricity to face review process.   There has since been a letter, on June the 10th, issued by the Board, that talked about the specific issues that would be considered by the gas-electricity-interface process -- that there was going to be a report out at the end of September, and that there would be explicit consideration of the infrastructure costs associated with gas-fired generation, as well as cost-allocation rate-design issues.  

     In addition, we now have better scenarios, in terms of future load growth for gas-fired generation, in terms of scenarios from the IESO that we are now proceeding to model.  And it's also an input into the gas-electricity-interface review.  So we do have more information than we did in March, and I think there is more definition, in terms of conducting our internal reviews and models.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Given that, Ms. Giridhar, what are the company's intentions in respect of proceeding further with its consideration of redesigning these rates? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  At tab 4 of the brief provided today, we have a response to OAPPA Interrogatory No. 5, and that outlines some of our thoughts at the point we were responding to the interrogatories.  

     What the company's proposing to do is to continue to work on the rate-300 series, because, as I said, we hadn't really stopped working on it.  And the company's intent is to have meaningful choice for customers in September -- in October of 2007, when the phase-in of cost-allocation changes would be complete.  

     Essentially, we believe that there’s two components, at a minimum, that we would want to provide for a workable solution.  And we intend to file these as part of the 2007 rates case, in which case, if they were approved, they could potentially be available as of January 1, 2007.  

     Now these two components would include, at a minimum, a redesigned rate-300 - which is our distribution unbundled rate - with some of the flexibility features that were requested in the settlement agreement of 2005.   In addition, we would work on redesigning rate-310, which is a load-balancing service, that would also look to provide some of the flexibility requirements that were mentioned, such -- in that stakeholder conference.  

     Our belief is that rate-315, which would be a storage rate -- the requested features at that stakeholder meeting included no-loaded storage and much more flexibility than was contained in our proposal.  And we believe that that segment would need to await further policy direction from the Board, in terms of storage forbearance, that --we expect a proceeding on that in 2006.  And we have major issues to concern with in that -- on that rate, in terms of allocation of constraint, cost-base storage, whether the rates should be rolled-in or on an incremental basis.  

     So we think that would need more direction.  But we could certainly proceed with rate-300 and -310, our distribution service and a load-balancing service that we would file as part of our 2007 rates case.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Ms. Giridhar.

     That's the evidence in-chief, Madam Chair, and the panel is now open to cross-examination.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  

     Would the parties tell me who wish to cross-examine on this, and if you’ve chosen an order amongst yourselves. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  We have, Madam Chair.  I'm up first, and then, I believe it’s Ms. Young following me, and, finally, Mr. Thompson.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  

     You may begin.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  As a preliminary matter, Madam Chair, I’ll let you know that I am asking these questions on behalf of TransAlta.  And as a secondary preliminary matter, I do have a book of materials for use on cross-examination that you should have in front of you.  It's entitled “The Books of Materials for use in Cross-Examination on Issue 18.3 by TransAlta Energy Corporation.”   It has 11 tabs.  I wonder if that could be marked as an exhibit.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  So that will be given Exhibit No. K8.2.  

EXHIBIT NO. K8.2:  BOOK OF MATERIALS FOR USE IN CROSS-EXAMINATION ON RATE-300 SERIES ISSUE 18.3 BY TRANSALTA ENERGY CORPORATION  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And I would just note for the panel that virtually everything contained in panels – or, sorry,  tabs 1 through 5 of Mr. O'Leary's book are contained in that exhibit, as well.  The sole exception is the inserted page in Mr. O'Leary's book, which is the June 10th letter.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  And K8.2 will be characterized as “Book of Materials from TransAlta Regarding Rate-300 Series Issue.”  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DeMARCO:

     MS. DeMARCO:  Good afternoon, panel members.  I have a few questions to ask of you regarding, first, the upstream-transportation cost-allocation rate-changes, and the impacts giving rise to EGD's rate-300 series commitments, and EGD's current and ongoing actions in relation to rate-300 series redesign.  So those are the areas I will be focusing on.  I believe that Ms. Young, anyway, will go into more detail on specific aspects, but I think I’m the general list today.  

     So you indicated, in direct, Ms. Collier, that your position is the Manager of Rate Design; is that correct? 

     MS. COLLIER:  Yes, it is.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And Ms. Giridhar, your position is Manager of Rate Research and Design -- 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  -- is that correct?   And how long have each of you been in those current positions for? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I've been in this position since October of 2003.  

     MS. COLLIER:  And I've been in the position since -- I believe it was December of 2003.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can you provide me with a brief summary of some of the main functions and activities that you're required to carry on, as part of your job?  

     MS. COLLIER:  Certainly.  In terms of reporting purposes, I report to Ms. Giridhar.  Primarily, I'm responsible for ensuring that our rate design, as I mentioned earlier, recovers our company's revenue requirement or cost-to-service.  In conjunction that - that’s for our main rate-case application - we're also responsible for performing quarterly rate-change, as it relates to commodity and upstream-gas-cost changes.  

     General enquiries, certainly, from customers regarding bill impacts, commodity-cost changes, things of that regard.  We're also responsible for the cost allocation and rate design for our affiliate Gazifere -- we perform those duties on their behalf.   Those are, primarily, the areas of responsibility that I oversee.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I report to Mr. Patrick Hoey, Director of Regulatory Affairs.  And my role is to oversee the activities of the rate research and design group.  

     It includes the activities that Ms. Collier referred to.  And in addition, there is the cost-allocation piece for the company's revenue requirement.  There is also the clearing of deferral accounts, working on rate orders for QRAM applications, as well as the fiscal year.  In addition, we also provide -- or have the customer-rate notices for correspondence for our customers, and looking at bill impacts, questions, queries, those sorts of things.  And also the working cash requirement for the company's revenue requirement.  


MS. DeMARCO:  So both of you have indicated, then, that you're responsive to customers, broadly?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And your function involves designing both existing rates --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.


MS. DeMARCO:  -- and looking at future rate design?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.


MS. COLLIER:  Mm‑hmm.


MS. DeMARCO:  Would it be fair to say that certain customers, particularly large, sophisticated customers that are contemplating a change in their rates or services from EGD, or otherwise trying to maximize efficiency, are likely to enter into discussions with the company regarding those rates?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. COLLIER:  Mm‑hmm.


MS. DeMARCO:  And would that occur directly with you or with you through the company representative?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It would occur with the -- our key account executives, and, to the extent that there's issues of policy issues with rates that they could not resolve, we would be consulted.


MS. DeMARCO:  So nonetheless you would be aware of any of those issues?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.


MS. COLLIER:  We have monthly meetings with the key account executives that -- they keep us up‑to‑date on information requests from their customers, things customers are looking at, and, similarly, we kept them apprised of issues that are happening in front of the regulator, so they're aware of upcoming, pending impacts that may impact their group.


MS. DeMARCO:  So, broadly, you're aware of customer needs?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Both existing customers and new customers; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's fair.


MS. COLLIER:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, in your experience, do those type of discussions -- when there's a new rate change or contemplation of a new service being undertaken by a customer, do those discussions take place well in advance of any such change?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, we do have a regulatory schedule to think of, in terms of implementing rate changes, because they go through the regulatory process.  So the regulatory process in itself is between ten to eleven months.  So our ability to introduce rates at a particular point in time does mean that those discussions have to happen in advance of when they're implemented.  


MS. DeMARCO:  And in terms of new customers, as well, particularly new electricity generation customers, is it fair to say that those discussions may happen very much in advance of them requiring services?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  There is a lead time involved, in terms of all new customers and in terms of attachment of these customers, and also in terms of getting approval for rate changes.  So it is fair to say that there is ‑‑ the discussions do need to happen in advance.


MS. DeMARCO:  And that could be up to years in advance; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It could be a couple of years, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And that's so that customers can understand and plan around their natural gas rates and service options; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is fair, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And would it also be fair to say that customers undertake that type of long‑term and ongoing gas planning, in part, at least, to help them achieve some efficiency in their operations?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Would it also be fair to say that customers undertake that type of planning and discussion with the company because many customers have long‑term contracts with fixed output that doesn't contemplate natural gas prices?  Would that be fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I wouldn't be very knowledgeable on the contracting practices of our customers.  I don't deal directly with them.  But it is conceivable that some of them might have long‑term contracts.


MS. DeMARCO:  Would it be easier to say that they have pricing pressures that they need to work around?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would agree with that.


MS. DeMARCO:  I would now like to ask you a few questions about the implementation of the upstream transportation cost allocation changes that were approved in RP‑2003‑0203, and just by way of background, Ms. Giridhar, you were in charge of those changes; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  So you were intimately involved in that rather troublesome process; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I was, yes.  I wouldn't necessarily agree that it was overly troublesome.  It was an interesting process.


MS. DeMARCO:  It certainly could have been worse, couldn't it?


At a very high level, let me see if I can really do damage to the process here.  EGD proposed to change the allocation of upstream transportation costs to a volumetric basis; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct, in addition to other changes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  And those changes would be?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  There were changes to how we classify and allocate elements of storage and short-haul transportation, the way we determine our peak day requirements.  So essentially what the company was attempting to do is it realized that its existing methodology for upstream transportation was unsustainable, because it required one group of customers to pay more than what they would have paid in the marketplace if they made their own arrangements, and for another group of customers, the large-volume industrial customers, to pay less than what they would have paid for transportation.  


So this was ‑‑ this cost allocation methodology was in place through much of the 1990s.


So the company recognized that it needed to change, and at the same time we wanted to ensure that we could look at a wider group of cost allocation issues, (a) so that we could have some mitigation for the impacts on large-volume customers where warranted, and, therefore, have a package that looked at a larger, rather than a smaller group, of issues that needed addressing.  


So we looked at quite a few ‑‑ number of changes, I think at least seven or eight of them.


MS. DeMARCO:  And it's fair to say that a number of customers didn't specifically agree on the rationale behind the change, but did agree on a solution around the change; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  The solution was part of the settlement agreement, so it's fair to say that it was agreed to by all parties.


MS. DeMARCO:  And the result of the upstream transportation cost allocation changes was a significant shift in the upstream transportation costs from residential and small commercial customers to large industrial customers; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  If I might just give an indication of the magnitude of the change, for instance, assuming that TCPL tolls were approximately 4-1/2 cents per cubic metre at the point that we were looking at this change, our largest customers on rate 115, which is our firm high-load factor service, were paying up to 30 percent less in TCPL tolls.  Our rate 170 customers were paying slightly more than half of TCPL tolls.  


So what was inherent in our previous cost allocation methodology was fairly significant reductions or discounts, if you will, compared to the costs that they would have incurred in the marketplace.


So to the extent would we were looking at reversing these changes, yes, these would have been significant changes, and that was the rationale why there was a four-year phase-in.  And if I might mention, the whole process around discussing this issue began as early as late 1999, early 2000.  So, in fact, in every large-volume customer meeting since that time, the company would talk about the changes that were forthcoming.  


So in a sense, this has been out there and discussed since the year ‑‑ late 1999 or 2000, really, and the changes will fully take effect as of October 2007, a fairly long lead-time to talk about significant changes.


MS. DeMARCO:  I would like to focus specifically on the increase in rates for a number of customer rate classes.  I wonder if you can turn to tab 1 of the ‑‑ of Exhibit K 8.2, and the last page of that tab.  Do you have that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, hmm‑hmm.


MS. DeMARCO:  So, for example, for rate 115 customers, adding up the percentage increases in each of those columns, it looks like the implementation or the impact of that change would be approximately a 30 percent rate increase.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, similarly, for rate 135, we're looking at a 40.1 percent rate increase?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm‑hmm.


MS. DeMARCO:  And for rate 170, we're looking at a 27.7 percent rate increase?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  All of these increases, though, would be cumulative increases, but over four years, so it would be phased in, and limited to 9 percent in any one year.


MS. DeMARCO:  In terms of the company's full implementation, the impact are those total amounts; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.


MS. COLLIER:  That's right.


MS. DeMARCO:  And it's fair to say, then, that the customer rate and bill impacts of the upstream transportation cost changes were very significant; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's fair.  And I think the company has recognized that, and that explains, for instance, the long lead-time and the company's attempts to bring this topic out and discuss it at every opportunity it could, from late 1999, as I mentioned.


I should also mention that there was a second issue, which was part of the previous year's proceeding, and that had to do with the fact that there are really two kinds of customers, two kinds of arrangements that large-volume customers could make.  One was what's called “Western T”, whereby the company makes the arrangement for transport on behalf of the customer.  And the second one is called “Ontario T”, where the customer, in fact, made their own arrangements, and the company compensated them for their arrangements at TCPL's full tolls, and then, in turn, they paid the company's transportation charge.  So, in effect, the Western T and the Ontario T ended up paying the same charges, as far as the company was concerned.  

     What had happened is that over the year 2000, and beyond, a lot of the Ontario T customers chose to turn back their TCPL capacity, and substitute that with capacity on the secondary market, presumably, because they could get it cheaper than paying full tolls.  And the company continued to compensate them at full TCPL tolls, which meant that, in addition, now, there was a spread between their true cost of transportation and what the company compensated them for.  And the cost of that spread - which was a risk-free spread, essentially - was borne by the company's low-volume customers.  

     So there were both of these impacts that the company had to consider, and why, eventually, that existing cost-allocation methodology was unsustainable, and needed to be changed.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I would like to actually come back to the issue regarding the differences between Western T and Ontario T, but if you’ll permit me, I'm just going to put that on hold for a moment.  

     You referred, specifically, to the initial discussions, as early as 1999, about cost-allocation changes.  And it's fair to say that there has been -- there was no agreement until 2004, some five years; is that correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  The company proposed the changes for our 2005 case.  But, certainly, the discussions lasted approximately four and a half years.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So it's safe to say that, if it took four and a half years, it was fairly controversial.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think there were really -- I don't know -- I think a lot of our large-volume customers actually accepted that this change needed to be made.  I mean -- at least, that’s the sense I got through the large-volume customer meetings that I attended where this was discussed.  And everybody, including the company, accepted that there were cost impacts.  

     I mean, essentially, we're out there to be fair and equitable to all of our customers, and rate shock is a concern for the company.  So we fully recognized that anything that we did needed sufficient lead-time and, potentially, a phasing-in of these changes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Surely, if it took five years, it wasn't a slam dunk, it's fair to say. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I should also mention that the company was also concerned about not having these changes compound other regulatory issues.  So, for instance, through the year 2000 to 2004, we were behind, in terms of rate implementation, relative to our fiscal year.  So we did not necessarily want to add to those impacts by also having a retroactive element to this, back to the start of the fiscal year.  So that was, certainly, a consideration why the 2005 case appeared to be the right time, because, in 2004, we had a regulatory proceeding that allowed us to get back on track, in terms of having rates in place at the start of the fiscal year.   

     So while I will acknowledge that there were issues, in terms of rate impacts on large-volume customers, I would not necessarily say that the reason why it was introduced in 2005 was only because we couldn't get agreement from large-volume customers on it.  I think they were aware that these changes were necessary.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  But surely this was not a slam-dunk.  Customers were not bellying up for a 30-percent rate increase; is that fair to say? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's fair to say.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So nonetheless, Enbridge and intervenors managed to settle all upstream-transportation cost-allocation issues in the last rates case; is that correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So can I ask you to turn, then, to the beginning of the same tab -- the beginning of tab 1, which is last year's settlement agreement, starting at page 45 of 59.  And I don't believe this section is reproduced in my friend's brief.  

     Do you have that?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And specifically:

“The cost-allocation settlement -- 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm-hmm.

MS. DeMARCO:  Starting at the first paragraph: 

“--- indicates that the company will implement fully its proposed changes to the existing cost-allocation methodology in the 2005 test year.  The rate impact stemming from the proposed changes will be phased-in in accordance with the schedule prescribed by the settlement of the related rate-design changes under issue 15.4.”  

     Have I got that correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR: Yes.   

     MS. DeMARCO:  So it's fair to say, then, the settlement of this issue, 14.1, on cost allocation, was contingent on issue 15.4; is that fair? 

     MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  It was contingent on the phase-in of the impact.  That's fair. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And specifically, on the resolution of 15.4, as it mentions there. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Both of which were resolved as part of the same settlement agreement.  Both of which were resolved as part of the same settlement agreement.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  So they were contingent, part of the same settlement agreement, in effect? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm-Hmm. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  If I can ask you to turn to section 15.4, then, which is found at page 51 of 59. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR: Mm-hmm.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair to say that the resolution of the rate-design impacts of the upstream-transportation-cost involved two main parts, where the first would be the phase-in, and the second would be the rate-300 design commitments? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Both of those are contained in section 15.4, that’s correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So those would be the two main parts of that settlement; is that correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s correct.  The agreement on the unbundled rates, the 300-series, was to consider changes to all aspects to its rates.  But -- and while they're both part of that same item 15.4  -- I'm sorry.  I'm not sure what you were -- were you asking me if they're both contained in that section?  That is --

     MS. DeMARCO:  I was asking you, specifically, if they are both parts of the settlement -- main parts of the settlement 15.4.  You would agree? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, specifically, parties -- intervenors relied on both parts of that settlement, in order to settle all of the cost-allocation issues; is that fair? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  We did commit to consider changes to those rates, and that was part of the settlement agreement.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  We'll get to the specific wording regarding your commitment for the next rates case.  But, certainly, in the interim, I want to understand that both parts of that settlement were integral to parties in settling all of the cost-allocation issues; is that fair? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think the settlement agreement speaks for itself.  But we should note that we cannot presume that the cost-allocation changes would not have gone ahead otherwise. I think we’ve talked about the fact that there was one group of customers that was paying less than what they would have had to pay in the marketplace.  And there was another group of customers that was bearing that cost.  The company viewed that as a cross-subsidy issue, and, certainly, something that needed readdressing.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Given that both parts are in the settlement agreement, both parts were necessary to settle the issue.  Would you agree? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would agree.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder if we could look at each part of that settlement agreement in a bit more detail.  

     And the first, in relation to the phase-in aspect, at section A, reads that:

“For the first three years of the phase in-period, the overall increase resulting from these changes in the T service unit rate shall not, on average, for each rate class, be greater than nine percent.”

     Is that right? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That’s right.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So as I understand it, year 1 of the phase-in was, in fact, the rates approved by the Board in RP-2003-0203 --  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  -- is that fair?  And can you confirm that no rate class was subject to an increase of more than nine percent from the rates in effect prior to the test year, which I assume to be the October QRAM; is that fair? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct, and it should be qualified that the nine percent is with reference to those cost-allocation changes being considered there, not total impact on rate classes. 

So really, all of those rate-impact caps, if you will, are specifically in relation to these contemplated cost-allocation changes, not cost changes in general.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And -- 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I thought I would make that distinction. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  I’d like to discuss that distinction a little bit.  So none of -- specifically, none of the 

T-service-related -- sorry, the changes related to the upstream transportation costs exceeded nine percent in that year; is that fair? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. COLLIER:  That's right.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  But it is fair to say that overall 

T-service unit-rates did increase far more than nine percent; is that correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  In our October QRAM?  I don't have those numbers with me.  


MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you, for example, at tab 4, to turn to H2, tab 7, schedule 1, at page 7?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Page 7?


MS. DeMARCO:  Do you have that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. COLLIER:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  So at the bottom right-hand corner, do I understand that to read that overall T-service unit rates increased by 13.2 percent for ‑‑


MS. GIRIDHAR:  First of all, I should clarify that what you see here are rate impacts that were a part of the original filing for the 2006 rate case.  These were not changes that happened as part of our fiscal 2005 rate case, which was the first year of the phase-in.


And, again, as I mentioned, these refer to the sum total of two kinds of changes, one dealing with cost allocation and the other dealing with cost requests for the 2006 case, which obviously are yet to be settled in this case.


Specifically, they're also a function of the gas cost assumptions that were made at the time of the original filing.  For instance, at that point in time we expected TCPL tolls to be approximately $1.18 per gJ.  We now know they're approximately -- as of this October, they're actually implementing a TCPL toll of a dollar a gJ.  So these impacts are predicated on a certain price forecast at a point in time, as well as the company's distribution requests for the 2006 year and the cost allocation changes.


So those are the three elements that would give you these total impacts here.


MS. DeMARCO:  So what I understand you to be saying is that rate impact estimate is not an exact science and it is subject to a number of variables; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Not only is it subject to a number of variables, we know for a fact that it is not going to be 13 percent, because TCPL tolls have come down significantly since then.  And what we talked about as a 13 percent impact, for instance, for rate 115 was assuming that all changes happened as of January 1, 2006.  


In fact, the settlement proposal also said that ‑‑ or we agreed that these changes would take place as of October of each year and not January, because that was the company's fiscal year at that point in time.


We now know that our October QRAM will factor a 9 percent increase stemming from cost allocation, but it will also factor in a significant decline in TCPL toll changes that are going from the opposite direction from what was forecast at that point in time.  So chances are you would be looking at less than a 9 percent increase this October.


MS. COLLIER:  October 1.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  And if I might also say, you've actually got a distribution decrease for rate 115 that would take effect as of January 1, 2006.  I just want to bring that up, because the 13.5 percent is no longer true.


MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So we've established that it's a not an exact science and it is subject to variables, but your first estimate was that customers were looking at, for rate 115, about a 13 percent total increase?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Similarly, on the next page, we have rate 135, looking at a 14.7 percent total increase, your first estimate?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. COLLIER:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, similarly, rate 170, we go between 15.3 to 16.5 total increase?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. COLLIER:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Then am I correct in assuming that your next estimate of those all-in rate impacts is found at TransAlta Interrogatory No. 2, which is found in our book of materials at tab 5, and is Exhibit I, tab 22, schedule 2, at page 2; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The impacts that you're referring to at that point in time are really impacts with respect to what was approved as of October 2004, I believe, the company's rates at that point in time.


I think we should note that when we talk about rate impacts, you necessarily have to choose a starting point and an ending point, and, as we go through the year, you have changes to your starting point.  


So at that point in time, the full impact of the changes that we were proposing for 2006, relative to the 2005, were as shown in the last column here, and you can see the impacts range from 7 percent -- or 6 percent up to about 11 percent.  But the ending point was the same as what you saw in the typical impacts that you see, that seems to show a 13 percent increase.  The only difference was that at that point, we had since had QRAM changes that had changed our starting point.  


So suffice to say, I mean, I don't want to make this too complicated, but just to say that rate impacts are a function of, What is your starting point?  And you have to keep that in mind.


MS. DeMARCO:  So given the variability and that it is not an exact science, we have a range here.  Somewhere in this test year, we've got a range of rate 115 increases of between 10 and 13.2 percent; is that fair, in your evidence?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In the evidence, that's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Then, similarly, 135, we have a range between 11 percent, and the total on 135 is 14.7 percent; is that fair?


MS. COLLIER:  Yes.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And we have a range, again, for 170 between 11.4 percent and 16.5 percent?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  So those are fairly significant total increases; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Based on estimates at that point in time as to where TCPL tolls might be and where gas prices might be, that is correct.  


MS. DeMARCO:  Now, I'm going to ask you to help me out here in interpreting one of your answers to TransAlta Interrogatory No. 2, which again is found at tab 5, and then the subsequent TransAlta interrogatory at page 2.  


Do I understand that here you are trying to separate out the changes in the rate related only to the upstream transportation cost allocation changes?  Is that what's going on in this series?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Which one are you referring to?


MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry.  Tab 22, schedule 2 ‑‑


MS. COLLIER:  Right.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  ‑‑ starting specifically at ‑‑ sorry, tab 22, schedule 3, starting specifically at page 2.


MS. COLLIER:  Oh, okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, that is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  So these are strictly the changes related to the upstream transportation changes that were made in the last rates case, that's fair, as opposed to the all-in changes that we just discussed?


MS. COLLIER:  This is an extraction from the actual settlement agreement, so it reflected the changes of the phase-in at that time.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm‑hmm.


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry.  At tab 22, schedule 3, page 2, if you see the note.  Yes?


MS. COLLIER:  If you look at those impacts, they're the same as what is attached to the settlement agreement as table 2, I believe, that you laid out ‑‑ that you pointed us to in the opening.


MS. DeMARCO:  So can I just clarify, because a few of those numbers in the last column appear to be slightly greater than 9 percent?  We have 9.1 percent.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's rounding, because we ‑‑ you know, the unit rates were rounded off two decimal places.


MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So in each of the years where we see slightly greater than 9 percent, that's a rounding error?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  And you also see less than 9 percent, as well.  So that is rounding, as well.


MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  I just note that specifically, in relation to year 1 for rate 170, we have got 9.1 percent.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm‑hmm.


MS. COLLIER:  Mm‑hmm.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, similarly for year 4, we seem to have 14.3 percent, and that's the full implementation of the cost allocation changes?


MS. COLLIER:  For rate 135?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.


MS. COLLIER:  Mm‑hmm.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  That's a helpful clarification.  And can I just get a sense of the number of customers taking services under each of those main rate classes?


For example, taking service under rate 115, approximately how many customers would be in that rate class?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Give me a minute.


MS. COLLIER:  Sorry, what was the rate class?


MS. DeMARCO:  115.


MS. COLLIER:  115, there's approximately 50 customers.


MS. DeMARCO:  And 170?


MS. COLLIER:  170, 52.


MS. DeMARCO:  And rate 135?


MS. COLLIER:  Thirty-four.


MS. DeMARCO:  And rate 100? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  100? 

     MS. COLLIER:  Rate-100? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  

     MS. COLLIER:  2084.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And rate-110?  

     MS. COLLIER:  289.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And rate-145? 

     MS. COLLIER:  198.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  

     And just to get a sense of what that translates into, in dollar figures, can I ask you to turn to TransAlta Interrogatory No. 2, sub 3, on page 4 of 4, which is found in our document binder at tab 5.  That's Exhibit I, tab 22, schedule 2, page 4 of 4.  

     MS. COLLIER:  Yes, we have that.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And is it fair to say that the bill impacts -- the actual increase associated with the total change in T-service unit-rate could be up to almost $950,000 dollars this year, alone? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. COLLIER:  Mm-hmm. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And next year we're looking at an annual increase of over $1.8 million -- almost $1.9 million?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That interrogatory asked us to make the comparison to the previous year's rates.  So these are, actually, cumulative impacts.  

     So what you see as 1.8 million in 2007 is relative to 2005.  If you want to look at the increase in 2007 versus 2006, you should really be taking the difference between 1.8 million and $950,000.       

MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  So we're looking at approximately -- almost $1 million a year increases; is that fair? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  In the first -- the next couple of years. 

     MS. COLLIER:  Mm-hmm, yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And we don't have the change in 2005 listed there, but is it fair to say that that was, also, nearly a million dollars? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Presumably.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And for rate-135, we're looking at changes, annually, of an increase of approximately 15,000, in 2006.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  I should, actually, point your attention, as well, to the fact that you're looking at the highest volume in each rate class.  You're looking at the largest customer.  So, you know, if you're looking at a million dollar impact in a particular year, it has to be in the context of the size of the customer.  Making comparisons across rate classes -- obviously, that is something that should be noted, as well.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Not chump change, nonetheless. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm sorry? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Not chump change, nonetheless; is it fair to say? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I agree. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And just to clarify again, in relation to rate-170, this year, alone, customers are looking at an increase of nearly $300,000? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that would go up by another, say, 250,000 next -- the following year. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And a smaller increase, some $30,000, in the following year? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And would you agree with me that the Board found these rate and bill impacts sufficient to warrant consideration of the rate-300 series issues in this proceeding? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Are you referring to the settlement agreement? Or --

     MS. DeMARCO:  I'm referring to the inclusion of this issue in this proceeding.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  Obviously -- if I could just take a minute on that response.  Sorry.  

     I think what the Board said was that it did recognize that there are customers who would like the option of the rate-300 series.  I'm looking at page 4, tab 3.  So, yes, the potentially significant rate impacts in other classes is mentioned there.  And also, if you look at the preceding paragraph, there is a sentence that says that parties should be able to examine the evidence to reach a conclusion.  

     So, yes, the issue was an issue in the rates case and we are here.  So I would agree with that.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, specifically, the Board indicated there - if I can ask you to go to the bottom of the page - that the Board is sensitive to the potential impacts of new gas-fired power generators and will shortly initiate the gas-electricity-interface review.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm-hmm     

MS. DeMARCO:  And then it goes on to indicate:

“However, existing customers must also be considered, and the Board has heard clearly that there are current customers which would like the option of rate-300 series, particularly given the potentially significant rate impacts on other rate classes from the phase-in of upstream transportation costs.”

       So the Board specifically referred to those rate impacts there; is that fair? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And then the Board goes on to say that:   

“The Board agrees with OAPPA, and others, that it is not appropriate to await the conclusions of the gas-electricity-interface review, or greater certainty regarding prospective power-generation loads before beginning to consider this issue.”  

     Is that fair? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  The Board does say that.  And I should probably, again, reiterate that we have never stopped considering that issue.  It's, certainly, been considered since October of last year.  And we're proceeding to consider -- to continue considering the issue.  So I wouldn't necessarily read that sentence as saying that we somehow stopped considering, or we had not begun to consider the issue.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Could I ask you now to turn back to tab 1, and the settlement on issue 15.4, which is found at page 51 of 59.  

     And as I understand your direct evidence, it was that your interpretation of this clause is that you're required to consider changes; is that right? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And you didn't, specifically, mention “for the next rates case” in your direct evidence; is that correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I was speaking impromptu, so, if I did not mention it, then I take it as something I did not mention.  But, yes, clearly, it does say that we would consider for the next rate case -- as, in fact, we have done.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And can we look at, specifically, the changes that you're required to look at there.  

     There are a number of itemized issues.  You've indicated that each of them were considered in your review; is that right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can you show me where, in that provision, it indicates any mention of the Natural Gas Forum.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Within these three bullet points? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Within the settlement on 15.4.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  The National Gas Forum is not mentioned in 15.4.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And similarly, the CES RFP isn't mentioned either; is it? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, specifically, the natural-gas electricity case review isn't specifically mentioned either; is it? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, because that came after -- much after the settlement agreement.  So, yes, it is not mentioned. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And similarly, future load-growth issues aren't mentioned in that context either, are they? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.       

     MS. DeMARCO:  So the words of the settlement pertain to, specifically, timing issues associated with the next rates case; is that right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  And I should also mention here that, as rate design professionals, we believe that consideration of any changes to any of our rates have to be viewed in the context of price stability, sustainability.  And it is well-known that rate changes need to be considered in terms not only of the situation at a point in time, but all known and expected changes that might affect those rates.  

     So I would say it’s an underlying principle of rate design that, when you consider changes, that you're looking at potential changes to the circumstances that you're examining at a point in time.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you, then, to help me with a bit of a clarification in relation to a response to OAPPA, at Interrogatory No. 5, which is found at tab 6.   


That's at tab 6, page ‑‑ it's Exhibit I, tab 14, schedule 5, page 2 in response to (i).


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  The first one?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  And specifically there, you mention that eventually more than one set of rates may be required to meet the needs of existing large-volume and potential gas‑fired power generation customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  So in your consideration of the numerous factors, there's options of looking at more than one set of rates; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  I think I should mention here that in our stakeholder conference of February 1st, we offered a proposal that, in our minds, considered several aspects of these rates, including the ones that were specifically mentioned.  And as I might have mentioned in my earlier direct, we did have proposals for each one of those requested features, with the exception of term-differentiated rates, which we considered but decided not to include in the proposal.


At that meeting, what became obvious was that customers were really looking for added flexibility from storage.  Specifically what was being requested was something called no notice storage, which is really an unbundled storage rate, but with many of the features of bundled rates.


In terms of our company's franchise area and the amount of storage that it currently has, the company had concerns as to whether it could offer that flexibility to all of its customers, even existing customers, and that it might not be able to offer that on a firm basis, because that flexibility that was requested is not available even today for all of our customers.  On our peak day, for instance, we need to go out and get peaking supplies.  We need to be able to curtail our industrial customers.


So all of this just to say that the fact that you might have more than one rate option, or options geared to other rate classes, does not mean that these options won't have impacts on each other.  In particular, flexibility, operational flexibility, is an issue.  You could have cost impacts on all rate classes stemming from the options you provide.


So I would not necessarily read that answer, that says that we may need more than one option to meet the needs of these customers and they may be more diverse than we think, to say that we could have actually designed rates for a subset of these customers, and then allowed those rates to remain static through time, even as new customers with different load profiles and non-critical needs came on, and that was the main concern for the company.  


So I don't think it would have been a meaningful choice for customers to come up with a rate based on extreme short-term parameters only to realize, after they have made decisions based on those price signals, that in fact those price signals were not sustainable at all and that these rates actually need to go up significantly.  


I don't think that would do our customers a service, and that was one of the main reasons why we thought, in February and March of this year, that we were lacking certain critical information in terms of rate design and that it was more prudent to wait and see what more information became available, to see if we could get better model the future as we saw it.


MS. DeMARCO:  And as I understand what you're saying, the critical information that you're lacking, is that coming out of the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review?  Is that the gist of it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We believe that the Natural Gas Electricity Interface would better define the issues related to gas‑fired electricity generation.  And I believe the Board in its June 10th letter specifically identified the elements that it would be looking at.  If you could just give us a minute to ‑‑


MS. DeMARCO:  Why don't we turn that up specifically at the back of Mr. O'Leary's brief?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If you look down at the bullet points, first four bullet points, the interface review was intended to provide explicit consideration of the following matters.  Identification of the infrastructure needs, both storage and transportation, to accommodate gas‑fired generation, so that would certainly have an impact on storage costs.  Allocation of these costs, presumably it's dealing with allocation between existing customers and the new customers that come on line; rate design for storage and transportation service and coordination mechanisms between gas and electricity.


MS. DeMARCO:  Would you agree with me that in the first paragraph of that letter, it refers specifically to gas‑fired generation?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It does.


MS. DeMARCO:  And in the second paragraph, second line-up, it refers specifically to six new projects for new gas‑fired generation; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  That's fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Similarly, in the first bullet, we again refer to gas‑fired generators?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  And the subsequent bullets talk about allocation of costs and rate design issues.


MS. DeMARCO:  And the third bullet again refers to gas‑fired generators?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can you show me where in here it refers to existing large industrial gas customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think I just -- I was attempting to make the point that when you look at rate design, it is essentially a zero-sum game.  You cannot look at insulating a group of customers entirely from impacts brought on by the addition of new loads.  I mean, that is well recognized even in the way we lay out our feasibility policy, for instance, in terms of addition of customers.


Essentially, rate design is -- and cost allocation are an exercise in allocating costs between different groups of customers, because, for the most part, it is next to impossible to tie specific assets specifically to certain customers.  That's why we have a cost allocation methodology approved by the Board. 


So the fact that you're looking at rates for a new group of customers does not necessarily imply that there would be no impacts on any other customers.  In fact, I believe that second bullet point, that talked about allocation of costs of additional infrastructure investments, does point to the fact that the very fact you need to allocate these costs means that presumably these costs are going to be fitting in with costs of other customers, and, therefore, you have an allocation issue, which you wouldn't have if rate design was based exclusively on identifying the specific assets that you require to serve each and every customers.  


I mean, we have 1.7 million customers in the franchise area.  We clearly need to allocate common costs to all of our customers, and that's the basis on which rate design has been done in this province.


MS. DeMARCO:  And currently you know those costs for your existing customers.  You've got a very good proxy of what those costs are for your existing customers; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And you don't know precisely what those costs are going to be for new gas‑fired electricity generation, do you?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe that the process we have right now is intending to model what those costs might be, based on different scenarios, in terms of how the loads might materialize and in which areas they may.


MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  So you're modelling costs, what they might be.  You're looking at sensitivities; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  You don't know what those costs are right now; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's fair.


MS. DeMARCO:  But you do know what the costs for existing customers are right now?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, therefore, you can allocate those costs right now?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  So if I understand your evidence broadly, you indicated that you hired a consultant to look at all things required in the settlement; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is right.


MS. DeMARCO:  And you met with stakeholders; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And in February of this year, he proposed a strawman of proposed rates that were not received incredibly well by stakeholders; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly there were gaps identified by stakeholders in terms of the proposal and what was desired.


MS. DeMARCO:  And is "gaps" code for they weren't particularly happy with what they saw?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  They did request enhancements, so I guess presumably they weren't happy with what they saw.


MS. DeMARCO:  And in this case, despite the fact that you were considering changes to all aspects of the rate- 300, 305, 310 and 305, is it fair to say that you have come forward with no changes to any aspects of rate-300, 305, 310 and 315; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In this proceeding?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In this proceeding, yes, the company is ‑‑ does not have a proposal at this point in time that would re-design these rates for the 2006 case.  In fact, as I mentioned earlier, the company is proposing to come forward in its 2007 case for re-design distribution and load balancing service rates.  That would be 300, 305 and 310.


MS. DeMARCO:  And so, now, as I understand that consultant's retainer, he was essentially hired to assist you in complying with your rate-300 series commitments in the settlement agreement; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  He was hired to facilitate the consideration of the issues that were laid out in that settlement agreement.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, in fact, the rate 300 settlement wording from the agreement was included in his retainer; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. COLLIER:  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  So can I take you to tab H 1, sorry, exhibit H 1, tab 1, schedule 1, at page 9, which is included at tab 4 of my brief. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Would you repeat the page number, please. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Page 9.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm-hmm.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And starting at paragraph 24.  The process -- or the evidence indicates that the consultant was expected to identify rate and service requirements for target markets.  

     Is it safe to say that target markets include new electricity-generation customers? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, that is correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And this is, in fact, a growth area for the company? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  The company is expecting gas-fired generation to grow.  So, yes, there’s a growth area.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And it also indicates that the consultant was expected to communicate with potential customers; is that fair? 

      MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  He communicated with both existing customers, as well as potential customers. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Did he communicate with any other type of new customers?  Other than electricity generators -–

gas-fired electricity generators? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe we had identified any other usage.  I don't believe we had identified, specifically, a customer that was scheduled to come on for any other type of usage.  So it would have been our existing customers and potential customers identified for power generation.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And those potential customers identified, were, strictly, electricity gas-fired –-

gas-fired electricity customers; is that right? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is my recollection, but I could verify that, if you wish. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So it's safe to say, in terms of the new and target customers, the consultant was focused on electricity generation; is that right? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that bears out in his report as well, doesn't it?  If I can ask you to turn up -- turn to tab 8 of my brief, which is VECC Interrogatory No. 83.  And I apologize, I've included that whole interrogatory here, but if we work from the back, going to attachment 11, I've got the specific report there.  And I think that’s also included in Mr. O'Leary's brief at - if I can find it, here - at tab 5.  

     Starting at page 7 of that report, the first full paragraph.  The consultant refers, specifically, to energy-policy decisions, natural gas for electric-power generation; is that fair? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  It talks about the use of natural gas on a firm basis, as opposed to dual fuel for gas-fired generation.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And he makes specific comments regarding reliance on natural-gas-fired generation -- power generation.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And again at page 9, the second full paragraph -- specific focus on potential natural-gas-fired generators in the Natural Gas Forum.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that, specifically, motivates his consideration of the unbundled service rates, at the end of the first sentence there? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I believe the issues to be resolved through the Natural Gas Forum include wider policy issues in terms of storage, as well.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  He doesn't, specifically, mention storage there.   He refers to Natural Gas Forum, generally; is that right? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I think the next sentence says: 

“Resolution of issues related to pipeline and storage services, and resulting from the

Forum ...”

     So I think that implies that that’s also being considered.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  The second full sentence, there, specifically indicates that the timing of the results of the Natural Gas Forum made it impossible to complete the rate-300 family on the original schedule; is that right? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR: Mm-hmm.  That's what he says, yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And we've indicated that in -- nowhere in the settlement agreement do we see mention of the Natural Gas Forum; is that right? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think we have talked about the fundamental principles underlying rate design, and how that relates to the addition of these new loads, and why that was a consideration, in terms of having a proposal in the 2006 case.  

     I do believe that the settlement agreement speaks for itself, in terms of saying we should consider changes to all aspects of our rates.  And I believe we have considered changes.   We are continuing to consider changes.  

     The issue is, do you want to have a price signal out there that's going to be effective in such a short period of time that, eventually -- that customers are going to be making decisions based on outdated price signals -- I mean, that was a serious concern for the company:  Can we have a sustainable rate-design approach here, in the absence of some critical information on how this market is going to grow, in terms of power generation?  

     So, while the settlement agreement did not, specifically, mention Natural Gas Forum, or gas-fired electricity generation, in the process of designing rates, those are certainly critical issues we had to deal with.  Because a critical element of rate design is to look at both your existing customer base, and to see what kind of growth you might have that will impact that rate.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Looking back at the consultant's report, specifically - which, in several instances, refers to natural-as-fired generation - is it fair to, say at the top of page 7 of 10, relating to the regulatory-policy changes, the consultant specifically indicates that the delay created by existing regulatory policy proves to be an asset in the final development of the rate-300 family for the company.  

     Is that what the consultant is saying, there? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, where is that again?  Sorry.  Yes, the consultant does say that.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So is it fair to say that, in summary, the consultant, in the consultant's report, relies quite heavily on the outcome of the Natural Gas Forum with respect to further rate-300-series development in the commitments in the settlement agreement; is that fair? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe the consultant's report examines the reasons why it would be prudent to wait for the Natural Gas Forum report, and more information on gas-fired electricity-generation, in terms of designing these rates.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair to say we have at least five specific references to the Natural Gas Forum policy, here? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I haven't counted, but I will take your word for it.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  We've got the page 7 reference, that we just went to.  We've got the specific subsequent

energy-policy decision, in the next paragraph.  That would be 2.  We have the page 9 reference, in relation to natural-gas-fired generators.   And then, we have the specific conclusion relating to the impossibility of the rate-300 series, on the basis of the Natural Gas Forum.  

     Certainly, I defer to your numbers, and your ability to manipulate numbers than mine, but I count five.  Is that right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Okay.  Five.  I accept that.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So very influential in this consultant's work; is it fair to say? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  In his report, yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can you show me where in this report the consultant indicates his consideration of term-differentiated rates? 





     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would actually have to go through it again.  The intent of the report, however -- at that point in time, the intent of the report was to delve into the higher issues -- or the “conceptual” issues, if you will, not into the specifics of each and every item that was considered at that point in time.  

     So, if you're suggesting there isn't a reference to term-differentiated rates, I’ll take your word for it.  I would have to go through it again; but I'm outlining, again -- the intent was not to go through each and every item of  that proposal in this report 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay so, subject to check, there is no reference, specifically, to term-differentiated rates, other than the mandate; is that right. 

 
MS. GIRIDHAR:  In that report, yes, but I do believe we responded to an interrogatory on term-differentiated rates, and it might even be TransAlta.


MS. DeMARCO:  Specifically is that IGUA number 94?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Um -- I thought the term --differentiated rates was TransAlta's response.  I think if you go to tab 5 of your brief, Ms. DeMarco, and it's actually the very last interrogatory response, TransAlta Interrogatory No. 9, and item 5.  If you could flip to the response, item 5 talks about the fact that the company did consider, but did not provide for term-differentiated rates in strawman.


MS. DeMARCO:  We had nothing specific around the consultant's consideration or your instructions of the consultant to consider term-differentiated rates; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm trying to recall.  The fact that we considered it -- or, you know, clearly the consultant was involved in the discussions about term-differentiated rates, but if you look at what we have said in that response here, we've said that we believed that we wanted to focus on a conceptual framework for a normal one-year operating cycle - and that's what that stakeholder discussion on February the 1st talked about - and that multi‑year arrangements really should come after you're happy that you have got a one-year arrangement that works.  


And, secondly, we also wanted to understand the risk implications of having term-differentiated rates in our current regulatory regime.


So, again, I don't want to play on the word "consider".  I would suggest that we did consider it.  We did not include that as a proposal in our strawman, and to that extent you probably don't find words around the term differentiation in the consultant's report either


MS. DeMARCO:  So it's safe to characterize it as you might have considered term-differentiated rates, but you dismissed it fairly quickly?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We did not include that in the proposal.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can you show me where in the consultant's report ‑ again, going back to tab 5 in Mr. O'Leary's brief ‑ the consultant shows consideration of changes to rate 305?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe you will see changes to rate 305 in the strawman.  Again, as I said, the consultant's report was not intended to be a detailed itemization of all of the proposed changes.  That was actually the strawman, and that was part of the discussion on the presentation that was made on February the 1st.  


So it is quite conceivable that he did not dwell at any length on rate 305, because the intent of that report was really to talk about the high-level considerations that we were focussed on in terms of rate-300 series, in terms of trying to figure out whether we had enough to go forward with the proposal for this rate case, or whether there were certain issues that we needed to consider.  


I mean, that was the focus of the report, all of the issues we needed to consider before we could actually come up with a proposal that we would file.


MS. DeMARCO:  So it's fair to say the only evidence and consideration that we have on 305, including the company's own direct evidence, is Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 83, page 3 of 8 of attachment 12, which is found at tab 8 of my brief?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, that is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And in terms of your direct evidence, you also didn't mention specific time lines pertaining to rate 305; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I ...


[Witness panel confers]


MS. GIRIDHAR:  305 ‑‑ we might have not mentioned -- I'm just going to check.  Essentially, I view 305 as almost a subset of 300, because that's the interruptible version off of firm rate.  So essentially a lot of the characteristics should be similar, except that you would specifically identify what changes for interruptible service with respect to firm.


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I'm cognizant of the time.  I have a few more questions on this section, which would take me to just slightly past 2:30, and then I have one last section to get through after the break.  Is that timing acceptable to you?


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Ms. DeMarco.


MS. DeMARCO:  In relation to the customer consultation on the strawman, is it fair to say that stakeholders were most critical of the consultant's rate 310 and 315 designs?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would agree that, yes, the major gaps that were identified were with respect to 310 and 315.


MS. DeMARCO:  And the customers indicated that they found it challenging or difficult to truly analyze the proposals, as they lacked cost and pricing structure information; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, that was -- the stakeholder meeting was intended to be preliminary discussion on ‑‑ in terms of what the rates would look like, and we specifically did mention that the costing and pricing would follow later, once we had agreement or consensus on whether these features that we were talking about were desirable and, you know, the general aspect of the rate itself.


MS. DeMARCO:  So in terms of being able to try and do some planning or to try and mitigate some rates, come up with strategies to mitigate rate increases, just not enough information at this time; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The intent was to provide a preliminary ‑‑ enough for a preliminary discussion.  So the intent was not to be able to provide as much information as would be contained in an actual proposal, in a rate case.  So to the extent that that did not allow a customer to actually simulate what their costs might look like, that is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And is it also fair that customers were critical of the design structure that appeared to mandate taking at least two of the company's unbundled rates if one were to take the unbundled load balance or storage service rates? 


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In the proposal, we had a distribution service that would be mandatory, and the distribution service would have required customers to balance to within 2 percent tolerance of what they were consuming on any day.  So essentially they would have to deliver within a 2 percent tolerance of what they were consuming on a day.  


And realizing that most customers would probably not be able to manage within that, what the consultant designed was what he called rate 310, would be sort of an add‑on feature, such that if you were not in balance, you did not specifically have to contract for something.  You could avoid the penalties in rate 300 by having rate 310 apply as a default, as it were.


So it was really an attempt to increase the flexibility for customers from a 2 percent tolerance to something higher, recognizing that customers cannot necessarily balance to a very tight tolerance.  So that was the intent of how that was structured.


MS. DeMARCO:  In relation to the time lines, February 2005 was the last meeting of stakeholders; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is right.


MS. COLLIER:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And then I'm trying to reconcile.  You're indicating that you are continuing to work on the re-design of rate-300 series issues.  You indicated that in your direct; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you to turn to IGUA, which is found at tab 7 of my brief, at page 3?


The first full paragraph on top of the heading "Operational Considerations", I read that to indicate that you were prevented from working any further on the rate-100 series rates; is that accurate?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, where are you?


MS. DeMARCO:  IGUA tab ‑‑ Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 94, page 3 of 5.  It's at tab 7 of the brief, the first full paragraph on top of the heading "Operational Considerations".


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It is fair to say that we did not file a proposal in this case, so I guess when we use the word "proceeding further", the context was that proceeding further in terms of filing a proposal.  I don't believe it meant that we have stopped considering the issue totally.  I mean, we have continued since then.


And also keep in mind that the timing of that interrogatory response was probably late May or early June.


MS. COLLIER:  Mm‑hmm.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  June.  And at that point, some of the information requests were just beginning to be ‑‑ to be known.  For instance, the CES RFP, I think we came to know of the award of projects probably the first week of June. 

     So at that point, I think -- following the February stakeholder meeting, the company continued to work on evidence preparation for this case.  So all of the evidence was produced around that time.  That was the March

time-frame.  

     So, April and May, we might have continued on other projects.   At that point, certainly, we had the Natural Gas Forum report that was known.  We knew there was going to be a gas-electricity interface.  We did not have the RFP results, at the time.  

     And since then, we have continued to work on these rates, in terms of further assessing what features we want incorporated.  And specifically, we have begun to do some modeling, in terms of the additional loads, and what the storage requirements might mean, and what it might mean for our total costs. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So in fact, then, this response is not, now, accurate.  You have not been prevented from proceeding further; is that correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think this response is, specifically, referring to what prevented us from proceeding further at the time we filed our evidence --  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  -- in terms of making a proposal.  So it’s at a point in time. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So it's an outdated response.  Is that a better way to put it? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I’d have to say it was current at the time that it was provided, and that was the window for which -- sorry, I don't mean to quibble on words, but --

     MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder, Madam Chair, I have approximately a half hour more to go.  Shall we break at this point? 

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  But I would like to do a time-check with the other people, as well. 

     So Ms. Young, do you have a sense of how much longer you will take -- how much you will take? 

     MS. YOUNG:  I wouldn't expect to be any more than half an hour. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Thompson? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  It looks like I've got about 20 minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  It does, unless you can negotiate something at the break time.  Will that work for you, Mr. Thompson? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think that will -- I can make it, I think.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you very much.  

     We will adjourn until 10 minutes to 3:00.  

--- Recess taken at 2:35 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 2:55 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, I wonder just before Ms. DeMarco begins, by making just a short observation.  In reviewing the rate case schedule, I am reminded that yesterday Mr. Battista did indicate, in an e‑mail he sent around to parties, that there was a possibility that the rate-300 panel might continue on Thursday morning.  


Looking at the schedule in respect to the corporate cost allocation panels, we've got a full line-up, in terms of the cross‑examinations that are anticipated.  So if I may, through you, Madam Chair, simply recommend to my friends that they try and complete their cross of this panel today, as there really isn't time to go into tomorrow.


MS. NOWINA:  I think everyone understands what Mr. O'Leary is saying and I hope very much that we can complete this today, and it will all fall on Mr. Thompson's broad shoulders.  Ms. DeMarco.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 4; RESUMED:


Malini Giridhar; Previously Sworn


Jackie Collier; Previously Sworn


CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DeMARCO:

MS. DeMARCO:  I will read that as a no-pressure warning.


In the interest of time, I had a number of questions that I wanted to ask on Ontario T versus Western T, and Ms. Young and I have agreed that she, in fact, will cover that in the scope of what she is covering.  So I did indicate to the Panel that I would come back to that issue.  I will not.  Ms. Young will.


I have two areas left that I would like to cover.  First is the reasons presented by the company for not proceeding further with the 300-series rates, and second is EGD's next steps and timing.  


So turning back to where we left off, which is IGUA Interrogatory No. 11 ‑‑ sorry, number 94, which is tab 7 of my brief, Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 94, page 3.


Starting at page 3, is it fair to say that the company set out a number of considerations that prevented it from moving forward; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct, at the time.


MS. DeMARCO:  And one of those would be operational barriers; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And specifically under that heading, EGD speaks to the differences between Union and Enbridge and indicates that while EGD could offer a partially bundled storage service to some customers, it could not ensure availability on a firm basis to all existing and new storage customers; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Second last sentence.  EGD does currently offer firm storage services to all of its existing bundled customers; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  As part of a bundled rate, it uses storage, as well as other assets, to load balance.  So storage is one component of its asset mix to provide firm service.


MS. DeMARCO:  So it has that storage for those existing customers; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  If I may just explain, the point we were trying to make there that on peak days, we could not ensure that using only storage a no load service maybe could be provided, because on peak day we need more than storage to balance our system.  


So if we were asked to provide more flexibility to an unbundled storage customer, then we would have to go out potentially and use either more interruption or get more peaking supplies or use some other means to balance the system.  


So that's what is being referred to; whereas the point was being made that in Union's case, not to speak for that company, but at least in its southern area, the storage operations are essentially integrated with the distribution.  So that was the difference in terms of our operational considerations.


MS. DeMARCO:  So to be clear, then, the company has firm storage for its existing customers, is that right, some form of firm storage?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  It does have firm storage.


MS. DeMARCO:  And ‑‑


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, go ahead.


MS. DeMARCO:  And couldn't it simply unbundle that firm storage and offer it to customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think the point that's being made is, in terms of what was requested at that February 1 stakeholder meeting, the company said it could offer a firm storage rate to its unbundled customers.  What the company was requiring is that the customers nominate what they would be requiring to be withdrawn or injected into storage on a daily basis.


But what was requested was something more flexible than that, whereby a customer does not need to be held to their nominations; that the company would, in fact, absorb swings between what the customer nominated and what they actually consumed from storage, and that there could be a deemed injection or withdrawal.  And that element of flexibility is what the company was concerned about, in terms of being able to offer that to all of its customers.


MS. DeMARCO:  So there is the availability of storage for existing customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is the availability of storage for existing customers, and it is part of a mix of assets that we use for certain critical days of the year, which would include about 20 days in the year in the wintertime.


MS. DeMARCO:  And so, similarly, in relation to the policy debates regarding costs or market-based storage, there is existing storage?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is existing storage.


MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  And, similarly, regarding posted stamp rates, there is existing storage; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In terms of posted stamp rates?  Yes, we do have existing storage.


MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Your second ‑‑ one of your other issues is in relation to rate instability and price signals.  That is specifically set out on page 4 of that same exhibit.


As I understand it, and specifically as the upstream transportation cost allocation evidence bears out, many of Enbridge's rates and prices fluctuate; that's correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It fluctuates because we operate on a natural gas marketplace where commodity prices fluctuate, and then we have annual rate cases that result in changes in rates.  


MS. DeMARCO:  As we saw in the context of the rate 115 components, that made it very difficult for you to predict the exact impact, because there is fluctuations within the rate; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The fluctuations stem from cost pressures external to the company, in terms of the commodity and the transportation elements that are external to the company.


MS. DeMARCO:  And these elements are just inherently variable; isn't that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  In fact, the company justifies much of its risk management activities as a means of addressing some of the variability; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm not qualified to talk about our risk management policy, but I would accept that it is intended to manage volatility.  


MS. DeMARCO:  So would it be fair to separate out normal pricing variability and major policy shift‑based rate and price variability?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And so one would expect some variability in rates from year to year, for example?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And other major rate changes may be more conducive to a different process or a different series of rates; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  Finally, in terms of the timing of the cost allocations, we understand that a number of customers face the full impact of those changes right now; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can you give me an estimate of the number of customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That face the full impact?  Well, there is two elements, and I might have touched on it briefly before.  One is whether the transportation charge that's being charged to a rate class is equal to the company's average transportation cost, and there are a few rate classes that fall in that category.  And specifically the second issue is:  Is that customer managing their own transportation arrangements as an Ontario T service customer, or is the company managing the transportation for that customer?


So in terms of the customers who are fully phased in, they would actually include rate classes that -- where the cost, the transportation cost, has been levelized and where the customers are Western T customers, i.e., the company is making the arrangements for them.  


So if I look at customers that qualify on both of those counts, there are approximately 100 customers on rate 110 that you could describe as being fully phased in.  That is out of approximately 400 industrial customers that we are looking at as benefiting from the phase‑in.  And in terms of volume, those are actually the smaller customers on rate 110.  They account for approximately 5 percent of volume for the rate classes being considered.  So 25 percent of customers and 5 percent of volume. 


So it is safe to conclude that those customers are probably the smaller customers within our industrial rate class of 110.


MS. DeMARCO:  And in terms of the Western T phase-in, I will leave my questions to Ms. Young.


So at this point, I think we've covered what you have and have not done, and your reasons for not proceeding further with your settlement agreement commitment regarding rate 300.


What I would like to do now is better understand what you do intend to do and when it will be done by.  So to assist me, having a terrible visual mind, I'm going to ask you to turn to tab 11.  It's with apologies for my chicken scratch handwriting.  And I'm going to ask you to help me visualize in this context.

     Okay.  So if I can just draw your attention to a couple features, there, in relation to the phase-in of the upstream-transportation-cost-allocation changes.  Year 1 is Q4, 2004 -- and that's properly mentioned, in fact, October 1st. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And then, similarly, year 2 is Q4 this year.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.       

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the full phase-in, following along, would be Q4, 2007.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And as I understand your direct evidence, you intend to proceed with further development of the rate-300 and -310 series in the short term. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.    

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can you walk me through that process, in the context of this time-line?  

     For example, when would the next consultation be on that?      

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  The company is currently looking at modifications for rate-300 and -310, and that would incorporate, to the extent possible, the flexibility requirements that were mentioned.  So what we are envisaging is that, perhaps, in October of this year, that we would have a stakeholder conference - late October, perhaps - where we would try and lay out features that we believe we can incorporate.

     And the expectation, then, is to file some preliminary evidence, as part of the 2007 case, and, to the extent that we have ongoing stakeholder consultations, that that evidence will be updated as part of the 2007 proceeding -- obviously, in time to be heard, based on the schedule for that case.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So Q4, 2005, we have a stakeholder conference that's more of an information-dissemination process.  Is that we’ve been doing? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  And also a discussion of the direction we're heading in, and what we believe we can offer.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So with opportunity for feedback. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  As well, yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So that’s October '05.  Preliminary evidence will be filed, January '06.  Is that estimated time-lines for the rate case? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I -- obviously, it could be contingent on what happens with the 2006 case, so I don't currently have a sense for the time-line.  But it would be part of that filing. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, notionally, Q1?      

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.   And then those rates will be heard in the context -- those will be reviewed by the Board in the context of the rates case over Q2, Q3; is that fair? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  I would expect that.     

    MS. COLLIER:  Yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So for potential implementation in and around Q4? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  January 1, 2007.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  And then you've indicated that the outcome of the natural-gas- electricity-interface review is quite important to the development of those rights. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.     

    MS. DeMARCO:  And that process is scheduled to be finished by Q1, 2006; is that right? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe they're expecting a report at the end of September of this year, and I would have to go back and see what the next steps are.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  It's my understanding -- and, subject to check, there is a hearing on that process; is that fair? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That was allowed for, yes, in the letter.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the documentation scoped-out by the Board goes out to 2006 for that process; is that right? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Subject to check.     

    MS. DeMARCO:  I do have the presentation with the Gantt Chart at tab 10, I think. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR: I think that’s -- yes.  I couldn't read that very well, actually.        

     MS. DeMARCO:  It's also in one of TransAlta's interrogatories.  I believe it’s the last interrogatory of the bunch.  Yes, it’s at tab 5. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  It appears to conclude December, 2005.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So you will have the rates prepared for evidence prior to that, is that right? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think we just agreed that the filing would probably be in the first quarter of 2006.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So, in terms of the overlap between the natural-gas-electricity- interface review and your filing, you'd have to have those going on simultaneously. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  And then, in relation to the Board's decision, should there be one in such a hearing, would it be fair to say that we'd need to give them some time to consider the matters before it in the electricity-interface review? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Were you thinking that our proposal would be filed as part of a hearing in the gas-electricity-interface review, or were you referring to our 2007 proceeding? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  It's my understanding that you intend to file the rates as part of your 2007 rates case. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  But you do intend to consider the outcome of the natural-gas-electricity-interface review? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  And then, in relation to rate-305 and -315, can you place those on this chart for me -- help me with those?  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I’ve really viewed -305 as associated with -300, so I -- we were thinking of -305 and -300 as being part of the filing for 2007.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So Q4, 2005, -305, -300 and -310. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Now, -315 -- help me here:  will that be included in that consultation, as well? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Not at this point, no.     

     MS. DeMARCO:  So can you tell me, precisely, what you're planning in relation to -315?  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  For -315, I believe, you've got an interrogatory response.

     I think it might be -- just give me a minute here.  Sorry, I can't quite find it yet, but the point we wanted to make with -315 is that we would want to await specific policy outcomes on storage forbearance, before we proceed with redesigning our storage rate.  

     I believe the time-lines we're looking at, for that proceeding, is sometime in 2006.  So, unfortunately, we cannot provide a more definite time as to when we could redesign our rate-315.  It’s contingent on the outcome of that proceeding.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And so, just looking at this time-line here, we've got the generic storage proceeding going out until, at least, Q4, 2006.  

     You can confirm that with TransAlta Interrogatory No. 7, at tab 5.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. COLLIER: Mm-hmm.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, in fact, to the end of 2006, is what the chart indicates.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, if you wanted to consider the outcome of that proceeding, assuming that the Board has to consider what's happened and render a decision, is it fair to say that you wouldn't be prepared to come forward with anything until the middle of 2007? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Potentially, yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And we do have full implementation of the upstream-transportation costs in Q4? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  September, yes.  That's correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, large-industrial customers facing a significant rate impact would have about three months to consider that, as a viable option? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I believe we can offer a meaningful choice through our rate-310.  If I could just make a distinction between what a load-balancing service would look like, and what a storage service would look like.  Essentially, a load-balancing service under -310 would allow the customer to balance, within certain predefined criteria, using our mix of assets, including storage -- so storage and whatever other means we need to balance.  And that portfolio includes curtailment; it includes peaking service, and so on and so forth. 

     So I believe that a customer -- an unbundled customer could, in fact, use -310 in combination with our distribution rate to achieve whatever gas management, contracting changes they want, because they would be allowed parameters within which they could load-balance, similar to what a storage rate would allow.  

     So we believe that -310 would provide sufficient flexibility in that regard.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  But there is a distinction, definitely, between -310 and -315.  


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  The distinction between -310 and -315 is that under -315 the customer is looking at using storage solely, to the extent that they contract on it, to meet the variability in their daily load profile compared to what they're bringing in through the pipeline.  Under a load-balancing rate, there is more than just storage that's being used.  


So I think you can possibly appreciate that, given that right now the company needs more than storage to balance the system, I think it is easier for us to design a load-balancing rate than it would be to look at a storage rate, particularly because we've got all of the associated issues with storage:  Constraint, in terms of the location of storage relative to our distribution system; the required short-haul transportation requirements; the fact that the cost-based storage is constrained; the fact that we're going to have to go out potentially and get market-based storage.  


So there are a lot more issues with storage.  I think the point I want to make is that the absence of a storage rate on October the 1st, 2007 does not necessarily mean that there is it no meaningful choice for unbundled customers.  They could use the unbundled load-balancing rate to achieve, in a large measure, what it is that they wanted to do.


MS. DeMARCO:  In fact, they'd have to, wouldn't they, if you didn't come forward with a storage rate?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  Well, there is the existing rate 315, which would remain on offer until that date, so ...

     MS. DeMARCO:  And we can confirm that currently that is unattractive to all customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't know that for a fact.  It hasn't been attractive so far because of the way we treat upstream transportation costs, and apparently the savings on those transportation costs have exceeded the savings that they could have gotten from storage, which is why customers did not contract for that rate.  But that rate has, in fact, been around for several years.


MS. DeMARCO:  Currently there is no customers on 315; fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  So just to break down your timing, you would be introducing a 315 proposal in Q3, in and around Q 3 of '07?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think it is near impossible for us to actually determine time lines for 315 at this point, other than to say it is contingent on the Board's storage proceeding, because I would have to tell you ‑‑ I'd have to have some idea of what that outcome is going to look like before I can tell you what it would take for us to come up with a proposal.


MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So leaving as variable the Board's decision on the storage proceeding, following the Board's decision on the storage proceeding, the company would then design a rate?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Would it then consult on a rate?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, it would.


MS. DeMARCO:  And then it would have to go through the process of getting Board approval of that rate?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  So assuming, based on the Gantt Chart, the decision on storage comes out in and around Q3 of 2007, you've got to design, consult and get Board approval of that storage rate?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  So, realistically, we're looking at not before 2008 rate application; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's fair to say.


MS. DeMARCO:  So there won't be a storage rate available for companies who will be fully phased in with the upstream transportation cost allocation changes?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, with the caveat that we believe that the load-balancing rate 310 could be used to offer more flexibility to those customers.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, in fact, that would be the only option available to customers wishing to exercise the option to take unbundled rates?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I think we should also note here that load-balancing service is not a monopoly service.  It could be competitively offered.  It could be offered by other players in the marketplace.  


So I don't think we should necessarily view load balancing as something that only the utility provides in its franchise area.  There may be other players that provide load balancing.


MS. DeMARCO:  So competitive services offering, and one unbundled --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.


MS. DeMARCO:  -- option for the company?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm‑hmm.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Ms. Young.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. YOUNG:

MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.  If I could just follow up on something that you said earlier, you talked about the issue of the change in upstream cost allocation having been discussed since late 1999, early 2000, that time-frame --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. YOUNG:  -- with large-volume customers.  Did any of these discussions also include discussions around unbundling at the same time that you were talking about upstream cost allocation changes?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe that we identified the changes in upstream cost allocation to be a pre-condition for unbundling.


MS. YOUNG:  And I just have some questions following up on Ms. DeMarco's questions around timing.


The second step of the phase-in is going to occur on October 1st, 2005?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.


MS. YOUNG:  But it is actually part of the 2006 rate case?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. YOUNG:  So the 2007 rate case, that -- the third step in the phase-in, will be October 1st, 2006.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. YOUNG:  But the proposed re-design that you will be coming forward with of 300, 305 and 310 won't be implemented until January 1st, 2007?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. YOUNG:  Would it be feasible to have the re-design of the unbundled rates implemented on October 1st, 2006 as opposed to January 1st?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't know that I could comment on procedural issues in terms of the forum for implementing it prior to the start of fiscal 2007 case, because presumably that would require a decision to be rendered on those rates prior to October 1, 2006.


MS. YOUNG:  Right.  Conceptually, though, if the next ‑‑ if the third step in the phase-in is October 1st, 2006, you have other rate adjustments, because it's the same time as the quarterly adjustment mechanism.


It is possible to introduce those re-designed rates at that time, if they were approved?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If they were approved, yes.  We would also want ‑‑ I think we've mentioned this before, that we would -- we would need to consider, perhaps, a deferral account that would take into consideration any cost consequences and migration, customer migration consequences stemming from the introduction of such a rate.  So all of those things would have to fall in place.


MS. YOUNG:  Okay.  Can you confirm that currently, when a large-volume direct-purchase customer switches from one rate schedule to another, that distribution rate schedule, that switch is typically done on the anniversary date of the direct-purchase arrangement?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. YOUNG:  And what's the company's current notification period for switching from one rate schedule to another?  How far in advance of that anniversary date does the customer have to let you know that they are looking at switching?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We'd have to find that out.  I'm sorry.


MS. YOUNG:  Could you take that as an undertaking?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm‑hmm, yes.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be given undertaking number J8.1, and it is lead-time required for rate class change.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.1:  LEAD-TIME REQUIRED FOR RATE CLASS CHANGE
     MS. YOUNG:  Yes.  Is it fair to say ‑‑ I know you don't know the exact timing, but is it fair to say that if, for example, you have a direct-purchase customer whose anniversary date is November 1st, they certainly couldn't come to you on October 31st and say, for example, We'd like to switch from rate class 110 to 115, just by way of example, that a day's notice isn't good enough?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I presuming that a day's notice isn't good enough.


MS. YOUNG:  Right.  And would that ‑‑ do you envision that that same sort of requirement, whatever it is ‑‑ that same lead-time would be required if a customer were going to switch from bundled service to unbundled service?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'd have to make that presumption, but I should mention that we do have instances where, for example, we propose a rate change as part of a proceeding, and the customer then makes a decision based on the best information available to them at the time that they're required to notify the company.


So, for instance, if you knew there was a change to, say, rate 115 and you were going from 110 to 115, if you knew that there was that proposal, you would probably factor that in the equation, in terms of your decision whether you wanted to move from one rate to another.  


So I don't view that as any different from today.

     MS. YOUNG:  So if your redesigned unbundled rates, the next -- the 2007 considerations, are implemented on January 1st, 2007.  Then, if we take, again, the case of a direct-purchase customer with a November 1st renewal, probably, the earliest that they could avail themselves of those unbundled rates, typically, would be November 1st, 2007, and perhaps not January 1st, 2007. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I could see that -- 

     MS. YOUNG:  They’d have a ten-month wait? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. YOUNG:  I just want to zero-in on the rate-170 class, if I could, and that's of interest to the universities, because there are a number of universities who are rate-170 customers.  And it's one of the rate groups for which the phase-in of the bill impact from the changes in upstream cost-allocation covers the maximum four-year period.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm-hmm, right.  

     MS. YOUNG:  So that the total bill impact of those changes was slightly in excess of 27 percent.  I think you said that earlier. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. COLLIER:  Yes.  

     MS. YOUNG:  And one of the criteria for taking rate-170 service is that you have to be able to accommodate total interruption of gas service on not less than four hours notice, over the December to March period. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.   

    MS. YOUNG:  So, given that applicability criteria, is it reasonable to conclude that, for a -- rate-170 customers, their winter-period operations, including looking at attendant distribution gas-supply costs, is a key factor in the customer's planning?  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. YOUNG:  And one element of that planning exercise would be to assess the options with regard to the rate schedule under which gas-delivery service is taken.  So if they were -- if the unbundled rates were available, they would be looking -- assessing those unbundled options, and they’d want to do that prior to the commencement of the winter period. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would agree, except that I'm thinking -- if, as an unbundled customer, they wanted to

self-curtail, for instance, there would be nothing that could prevent them from doing so, based on their expectation of where prices are heading.  

     So I'm not sure that the -- that it's something that they couldn't do, at that point in time.  

     Sorry, am I answering your question, or --

     MS. YOUNG:  Do you want to try that again? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Maybe you want to repeat your question, again.  

     MS. YOUNG:  Okay.  Would it make sense that a rate-170 customer, given the critical nature of planning for their winter operations -- would it make sense that a rate-170 customer would want to have the redesigned unbundled rates available in time for them to be factored into their planning for that winter period? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would agree, that it would be helpful for them to know where those rates might land.  

     MS. YOUNG:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     If I can just follow up on the Western T service, Ontario T service, fully phased-in discussion.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right, Mm-hmm.  

     MS. YOUNG:  Am I correct that for rate-100 and rate-145, there was really no phase-in of the bill impact of the upstream cost-allocations?  They were all accomplished in the first year? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  Because the impact on those rate classes was less than 9 percent.  They were fully-implemented.  

     MS. YOUNG:  And that a rate-110 customer -- that phase-in period is two years.  So that is completed as of October 1st of 2005.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. YOUNG:  Based on an answer to one of Ms. DeMarco's questions, is it correct that there are no Western-T service customers in those two rate groups, rate-100 and rate-145? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, that -- I'm pretty sure there are Western-T customers in both of those rate classes.  

     I'm making the implicit assumption, here, that rate-100 customers, typically, tend to be low- load-factor customers.  They tend to be apartments, commercial applications.  And, intuitively, you would expect customers that go unbundled to be either high-load-factor customers or large, sophisticated customers, who have a good handle on gas-management activities.  So the presumption, generally, is that the smaller heat-sensitive apartments and commercial customers on rate110 -- on -100 - excuse me - probably would not be looking at these unbundled rates.  So there's a presumption there 

     MS. YOUNG:  And rate-145? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Rate-145 is an interruptible rate, again, pertaining mostly to that sector -- the commercial sector.  And there are a few industrial customers, but they also tend to be of the smaller variety.  So, again, I'm making a presumption that they are not what you’d call very large users, and that -- the likelihood is that they would continue to find bundled rates attractive.  

     Secondly, they're on interruptible rates, and the unbundled rates would be a different nature of service, to the extent that it’s a firm service they were looking at.  

     MS. YOUNG:  And rate-110, Western-T service, there are approximately 100 --

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct, yes. 

     MS. YOUNG:  -- of those customers?   

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm-hmm.

     MS. YOUNG:  So as of October 1st, 2005, they are -- they will have the full impact.  They’re -- they must continue unbundled service, because they don't have unbundled options to consider.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  At that point.  

     MS. YOUNG:  Redesigned unbundled. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Redesigned, yes.    

     MS. YOUNG:  Yet, they might be a group that would have been interested in assessing redesigned unbundled options. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I certainly agree that -- we do recognize that there is a subset of customers that might have been interested in redesigned unbundled rates, as of October 1, 2005.  

     MS. YOUNG:  And would you know, how many Western-T service customers are there in the other rate groups? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would have to get back to you on that, I don't recall.  But I do believe that the vast majority of -115 and -170 customers are Ontario T.  So I think it’s a limited number of Western-T customers you see in those rate classes. 

     MS. YOUNG:  Is that something you could check, please? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. YOUNG:  Thanks.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be Undertaking J8.2.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.2:  TO DETERMINE AND ADVISE OF THE NUMBER OF WESTERN-T-SERVICE CUSTOMERS IN REQUESTED RATE CLASSES 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I might actually be able to give you the answer to that, sooner rather than later.  I might have it in my binder, so I might not need an undertaking.  

     MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.  May I just ask you to turn to -- it's Ms. DeMarco's book of materials, and it's tab 2.  It is the transcript from issues day.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR: Mm-hmm.  

     MS. YOUNG:  And could I please ask you to turn to page 108.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. YOUNG:  We're just looking for some clarification on some statements that were made in the paragraph that starts at line 15 on that page, and runs through to line 24.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MS. YOUNG:  And, in particular, starting about line 19, it says:

“To the extent that there are some of these Western-T service customers that would wish to migrate to Ontario-T-service, to get the benefit that I've referred to through 2007, being the period of the phase-in ..."   

     I believe, above, in the previous paragraph -- the benefit is the -- that's referred to as the T-service credit that Ontario-T-service customers receive. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MS. YOUNG:  So the idea here was that if Western-T service customer up until October 1st, 2007, to get some relief from the bill impacts of the upstream cost allocation, could switch to Ontario T.  Have I got that right? 


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  To the extent that ‑‑ well, we do have some procedures in place in order to facilitate or accommodate these kinds of requests.  So to the extent that it could be accommodated, a customer could take advantage of that.


MS. YOUNG:  A couple of points on that.


First of all, again, there would be a notification period?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I presume there would, yes.


MS. YOUNG:  And our understanding is that right now, if you switched to Ontario T, you have to take an assignment of upstream transportation; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. YOUNG:  And that that isn't -- under current circumstances, that isn't always possible right now, I think because of the limited upstream transportation capacity that's available?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, that was what I did indicate, in terms of procedures in place.  We may have a planned way of allowing this to happen.  So it would be subject to the company's ability to accommodate that.


MS. YOUNG:  So it may ‑‑ it may be an option as an interim measure, but it isn't a guaranteed option?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. YOUNG:  And it isn't unbundled rates.  It is still a bundled service?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  I think the company ‑‑ if I may just make a point here, the company acknowledges that there are some customers who might want to take service sooner.  I think there's two points we would like to get across.  One is we've identified 100 of them in rate 110, but when you look at the volumes, they do appear to be the smaller customers in that rate class, because they account for 25 percent of customers, but only 5 percent of volume.


And, secondly, we do acknowledge that they may benefit, but the ‑‑ I think we're looking at the wider issue of:  How can you implement rate design changes with the least amount of disruption and to the benefit of the most number of customers?  And to that extent, there's always trade‑offs that you need to make, and we ‑‑ the company recognizes that.


MS. YOUNG:  Could I ask you, please, to turn to ‑‑ it's Exhibit I, tab 14, schedule 5, and it is the response to OAPPA IR No. 5.


In the response to part 3, EGD states that it believes that unbundling should occur in a phased, market-responsive manner.


Could you just explain what you mean by that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The question to which that response was provided is:  

"Is it the eventual objective of the company to have an unbundled rate schedule for each rate class, similar to the unbundled rates of Union Gas in its southern operations area?   Please explain."


And the response is:   

"The company believes that unbundling should occur in a phased, market-responsive manner."


By which I mean the "phasing" is with respect to ensuring that it does not overly disruptive, and the "market responsive" refers to the fact that we would want to see customers demonstrate a need for unbundled rates.


I understand that Union Gas has had these unbundled rates for several years.  I'm not quite aware of the take‑up on those rates.  So I think the reference there really is that if there is a demand and ‑‑ we would want to respond to that demand, but in a market-responsive manner and in a manner that is not disruptive.


MS. YOUNG:  Could you agree ‑ and I think perhaps you just have ‑ that then if EGD has a group of customers requesting a certain type of service, would you agree that responding to that customer demand is an element of being market responsive?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. YOUNG:  Could I ask you now to turn to IGUA ‑‑ the response to IGUA IR No. 94?  It's Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 94.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. YOUNG:  It's page 5.


MR. THOMPSON:  It's in tab 7 of Lisa's book.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.  And there it states that:

"EGD has determined that it may be more prudent to await further information with respect to new loads, service offerings from upstream service providers and the Natural Gas Forum's gas electricity interface."


And there you mean before proceeding with re-designed unbundled rates?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. YOUNG:  Would EGD agree that, generally speaking, there will frequently be anticipated new loads and service offerings to consider when allocating costs and designing rates, but that at any given time, one will never have all of the information, so at some point you have to decide just to proceed with the cost allocation and rate design with the information that's available?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  I would agree with that comment, with the caveat that when you're looking at the addition of new loads, you would also form an opinion whether you view those new loads to be an extension of business as usual, or whether you view these loads to be perhaps large.  And if you view them as having different load profile characteristics from your existing customer base, well, then it's going to be unpredictive usage.  All of these factors would come in, but I do agree that you don't have perfect information on which to base decisions at any point in time.


MS. YOUNG:  So at some point you have to decide to proceed, and then you modify as you obtain more information?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MS. YOUNG:  One last question, just following up on that idea.


Would EGD agree that in some cases a new rate design could actually promote or stimulate new loads and service offerings, so that what you have in the end is a constant generation of demands and opportunities that you address that keeps the market moving forward?  It is almost an iterative process, in some sense?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would call that an ideal situation.  We would love to be able to attract new loads through rate design measures.  And certainly that is one of the intents of having good pricing in place, that you continue to be competitive and attract new loads.  I would agree.


MS. YOUNG:  Thank you very much.  Those are all of my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Young.  Mr. Thompson.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


All right, panel, these are going to be short snappers, and get your undertaking pen poised there, Mr. Battista.


Let me start off with just expressing what my client's concerns are here, and it's this:  In consideration for their consent - that's my client's consent - to a four‑year phase‑in of your cost allocation and rate design changes proposed in the last case, and the withdrawal of IGUA's resistance to those changes, EGD made commitments to ratepayer representatives for existing clients to unbundle and add flexibility to their rate 100 series of rates.


Would you take, subject to check, there is no mention in the commitments made in the agreement of potential customers or evolving markets?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would agree that there is no mention -- subject to check, that there is no mention of potential customers.  And if I might add, however, that the settlement agreement talks about considering changes to unbundled rates.


MR. THOMPSON:  In the next case?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In the next case, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So there is an expectation that something would happen in the next case.  Would you take that, subject to check?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is an expectation that unbundled rates would be considered in the next case, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so my clients are concerned with what appears to be a failure of EGD to live up to its commitments, and it's concerned with getting a definitive schedule for honouring these commitments.  

     Now I have listened to -- so anyway, that's where we're coming from.  And we made that clear on Issues Day, as well.  

     Now, I have listened to your evidence, and it appears to me - and I would ask you if I'm correct - that Enbridge's position is unchanged from the position reflected in its pre-filed evidence and the position expressed on issues day; am I correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, our -- could you explain what you mean by unchanged? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you just reiterated what’s in your pre-filed evidence, and what Mr. Cass expressed on issues day, to the effect, we have to wait until things become clarified in the electricity-generation market.  That's what I’ve -- that’s the sense of what I've heard this afternoon.  Am I understanding you correctly? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  The point I was trying to make is that, at the time we decided that we needed more information, which was February/March of this year, we felt that we needed more information on the potential addition of new loads before filing a proposal before the Board.  

     And the change, however, is that, at this point, we're saying that we believe we can come forward, in our 2007 case, with a proposal for distribution and load-balancing services that would be redesigned, and that would offer a meaningful choice to customers.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well has there been progress or not?  I’d ask you to turn up, at tab 3 of Ms. DeMarco's book, at page 4, the Board's decision on this matter -- this issue.  

     And the Board said, at the bottom of the page:

“The Board is sensitive to the potential impacts of new gas-fired power generators, and will shortly initiate the gas-electricity-interface review.  However, existing customers must also be considered." 

     And it goes on and says, on the page -- next page:

“The Board agrees with OAPPA, and others, that it is not appropriate to await the conclusions of the gas-electricity-interface review, or greater certainty regarding prospective power-generation loads, before beginning to consider this issue." 

     Now, have you progressed?  Have you done something?  Or are we just hearing the same tune as we heard, previously? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe, when we looked at this piece, previously, I did say that we have not stopped considering the issue, and that I would not agree that we did not consider the point-of-view of current customers.  In fact, I believe the point I have been trying to make is that we have considered our existing customers.  But we’ve also considered what the addition of new loads might do to the rate stability and sustainability of any rates that we might produce at this point in time.  

     So, in answer to your question, have we considered anything further?  Yes, we have.  We now have a tentative time-line scheduled for when we will hold our next stakeholder conference.  We have identified that we intend to bring forward evidence for the 2007 case.  

     So I would view all of these as evidence that we have considered, and we are continuing to look at what added flexibility we can provide.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, would you agree with me that these rates -- the current 300-series of rates - which go back a long way - are cost-based rates? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And they don't reflect the unbundling concepts that you have been expressing, from time to time, going back as late as 1999.  That’s the way I recall it.  There was further unbundling that the company had contemplated, dating back to 1999; correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe we might have -- just give me a second.  

     I believe we filed an unbundling discussion paper or document in late 1999.  I can't remember the exact timing, but that might have contemplated an end-state that looked at complete unbundling.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But that hasn't happened.  You made your proposals, in the last case, to change the cost-allocation and rate design.  And one of the grounds - would you take, subject to check? - to support the change that you were proposing, was the transition to unbundling.  The notion that different rate classes should pay the same unit-cost for transportation was justified, in part, on the transition to unbundling.  Would you take that, subject to check? Accept that, subject to check? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I can accept that, subject to check, but I think the evidence filed in the previous case indicated that there were definitely cross-subsidy issues that needed to be addressed in that regard.  So that might have been our opinion in 1999, that this was a precondition to unbundling, and that may still be true.  But I would state that, even if that unbundling did not occur, there were still cross-subsidy issues that needed to be considered, that would drive us in the direction of making the cost-allocation changes that we proposed -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Could I ask you about -- 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  -- in the -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I’m sorry, I thought you were finished.  

     Could I ask you, by way of undertaking, to file the IGUA evidence that was filed, in the last case, in opposition to your proposal?  That's the pre-filed evidence and the interrogatory responses, so that we’ll have the context of the opposition to your proposal.  Can you do that? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could I just understand again:  You’d like us to file your evidence? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's right.  You have that in your records.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And including the interrogatory responses.  Could I have a number for that, please? 

     MR. BATTISTA:  That would be J8.3, filing of IGUA evidence and IR responses in test year 2005.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Would that be all IR responses?  Or --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Just ours, on our evidence.  So we have the pre-filed evidence in this -- in the record in this case.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry.  Just another clarification.  You would like to have your responses to the IRs on your pre-filed evidence? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Correct. 

     MS. COLLIER:  Not our responses to your IRs? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, no.  Our evidence.  Okay?  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  All right.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.3:  TO FILE IN THIS PROCEEDING THE MATERIALS OF IGUA FILED IN OPPOSITION IN THE PROCEEDING FOR TEST YEAR 2005, INCLUDING IGUA’S RESPONSES TO INTERROGATORIES IN THAT PROCEEDING

     MR. THOMPSON:  Because our evidence -- you, in this case, say what was going on was unjustifiable.  I think that was the word you used in your testimony, today.  Do you recall that?  You described the previous cost-allocation and rate design as unjustifiable; right? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't recall my exact words, I'm sorry, but if I said that, then -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Take that, subject to check?   And all -- the only point I want to make is you're, in effect, dumping on your predecessors at Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Because the prior cost-allocation and rate design was put forward by Enbridge Gas Distribution year after year after year, and justified by your predecessors as being just and reasonable.  Would you take that, subject to check? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, I would not agree with that -- with the comment that I'm dumping anything on my predecessors.  I think we have to understand that the marketplace is not static.  It's dynamic and constantly changing.  So what might have made sense in 1992, '93 -- certainly, the marketplace of 2000, onwards, has been very different from that situation.  In particular, if I might mention the situation with Ontario-T-service customers.  

     Since the year 2000, we've had a situation where customers could turn back their capacity, that they formally contracted at full tolls with TCPL, replace that with something on the secondary market -- and, presumably, they would only do that because they got to pay a lower cost -- and yet, they were compensated at the full tolls.  So, if you look at this example, here, over the last four or five years, the marketplace has changed to an extent where you could have a customer that was compensated at, say, 4.5 cents, by the company for their transport arrangements; their own transport arrangements, potentially, may have cost them, let's say, 4 cents per cubic meter; and, therefore, you had a .5 cent spread that they were able to have, and somebody had to pay for that.  Well, it was the low-volume customers. 

     So I would not agree that something that was justified at a point in time continues to be justified till eternity.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  No.  But my point is, that rate design and that cost allocation was not somebody else's proposal.  That was Enbridge Gas Distribution's rate design and cost allocation, which it justified to the Board as just and reasonable.  And the Board accepted those representations. 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would agree with that. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  That is correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what the settlement did, in part, was relieve you from having to attest to this 180-degree change in position.  What the IGUA evidence contained was all of the previous evidence provided by Enbridge Gas Distribution, in support of the cost allocation and rate design that they wanted to change; correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So let's move on to commitments.  

     Would you agree with me it's not rocket science to unbundle cost-based rates?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And it's not rocket science to add some flexibility to existing cost‑based rates for existing customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  And that's precisely what we were considering as part of the strawman proposal.


MR. THOMPSON:  But that comment, sorry, applies to all of the rates.  You have exempted storage out of your little package of changes that you're working on, because, in my client's view, you're trying to drag your heels to take advantage of market opportunities that you see down the road.  Could you comment on that, please?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I could not comment on the company's policy direction on storage at this point, because I'm not in that decision-making role.


What I would say is that even today, the company cannot rely exclusively on storage to balance its system.  It is constrained, in terms of the flexibility it receives from storage, to fully load balance the system.  So if you're now looking at unbundling a constrained flexibility that we have, it has to mean that that flexibility has to be taken away from one group of customers and given to another group of customers.  That automatically raises equity issues.


On the other hand, if the company had excess storage capacity -- storage capacity, and added flexibility had a zero or a minimal cost to it, it would have absolutely no problem unbundling it.  The whole issue revolves around the fact that at this point we don't have flexibility to give away to one group of customers without repercussions in other groups of customers.  


So there's equity issues, and if you add into this mix the fact that we're also looking at fairly large growth in the number of customers requiring storage to balance what could be unpredictable loads, it just adds complexity to the issue of that requested flexibility.


So that was the context in which we believed we needed to exercise some prudence in terms of designing an unbundled storage rate that incorporates what is a requested feature from these stakeholders.  I mean, we did have a proposal to re-design rate 315, and that proposal was presented.  And we should keep in mind that the reaction we got was that added flexibility was required to that rate.


MR. THOMPSON:  One of the reasons you refrained from making any steps with respect to storage is the lack of integration, you say, with your storage operation and your distribution operation?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  You say that is an impediment; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Hm‑hmm.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's the first time that I recall hearing that your storage is not integrated with your distribution system.  Has it been advocated before, to your knowledge?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, there is a piece of the pipeline owned by M12 that we rely on, so it is not physically integrated within our distribution system.


MR. THOMPSON:  Union relies on its provision of service to itself, in effect, to get its gas from storage to its distribution system, and you rely on Union to get your gas from storage to your distribution --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- customers?  So that the only difference between the physical movement in your case and their case is you do it under the auspices of a contract?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And I suggest to you that's not an impediment to fully unbundling storage.  And, if it is, then you have the option of assigning those storage transportation entitlements to your unbundled customers.  You can't manage it; give it to them and they will.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Again, if I might mention, we did have a re-designed rate-315 proposal.  What that proposal required was that the customer nominate what it is that they wanted out of storage and stick to that nomination.


What was requested was that we offer service whereby the customers could consume anywhere within parameters and customer ‑‑ and the company would deem those injections and withdrawals to have happened.  So this was a level of flexibility which we were not sure we could offer to every customer that chose unbundled rates, because right now, within our bundled rates, we do have the benefit of both diversity with respect to that short-haul storage, but we also have other options, like curtailment and peak-day deliveries that would allow us to get gas quickly into our franchise area if we weren't able to get gas through our contracted M12 requirements and our storage operation.


So this was a comment in response to a requested feature that we were not able to accommodate, and the company's point is that unless and until we are sure that our upstream providers, such as Union and TCPL, could allow that flexibility, we really wouldn't be prudent to go around and make commitments to our customers on flexibility if we weren't sure that we could receive it ourselves.  That is the company's ... 


MR. THOMPSON:  The no-notice service was being requested by the potential electric ‑‑ electricity generators; right?  This was something that the ‑‑ it wasn't an existing customer requirement.  It was a potential customer requirement; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm not sure that I could categorically agree that the only people who made that request that day were representing power generators, so ...

     MR. THOMPSON:  My point is you can still unbundle without the no-notice service?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Absolutely.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And there is nothing to preclude that.  And let me just close here with two quick questions.


The first is this.  My members are concerned, whether they're taking bundled or contemplating unbundled services, that the storage currently used to load balance their deliveries will be gobbled up by electricity generators in the future.


Now, what assurances can you provide to these existing customers that the storage that's currently used to support their in‑franchise deliveries will not be taken over by these incremental power generators?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think that is precisely the kind of direction we would be looking forward to from the Board, in terms of the storage proceeding, rules on, How do you allocate what is a constrained cost-base storage between existing and new customers?  I think we have identified a lot of the policy issues associated with storage.


If I may, though, however, you did make the point that there is nothing to prevent you from offering a storage rate that does not have the no-notice feature, and I agreed.  In fact, I think if you look at the existing rate-315, it requires customers to nominate what they need.  So I think the existing rate-315 already has that feature.


The whole issue is around re-designing rate-315 to have features that are viewed as desirable.  Rate-315 today is available for existing customers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it's not completely unbundled, but I will leave that for argument.  If the Board were to impose a definitive schedule, for you to honour these commitments to existing customers in existing circumstances, will you honour it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Absolutely, if the Board requests.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is it fair to say the only changes that have been made at the moment to the rate-300 rate schedules is the introduction of some words in rate-315, for one, and I think it is maybe ‑‑ well, certainly rate-315?  Would you take this subject to check?  And maybe it is rate-310.


Certainly in rate-310, where you've, in effect, constrained the availability or applicability clause by adding the words:

"It is applicable to any applicant who has entered into a companion service contract with the company for service under rate-125, rate-300 or rate-305 and for whom the company has determined that this service is available."  


That's a complete discretion on the company to, in effect, deny service.  What's the rationale for that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I think we do have an interrogatory response to IGUA.  I believe it might be ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  It's number 93.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Ninety-three?  I don't have it here.  Do you?  Just a second.


MR. THOMPSON:  My question is:  Would you be terribly upset if the Board struck that language from this current rate schedule?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I need to check, first of all, whether that was in fact part of the settlement agreement.  I believe it was.  And, secondly, that provision was intended to ensure that our existing customers do not face undue impacts from new loads coming on on rate-315 prior to determination of this issue by the Board.


So we believe that that is a measure to ensure that existing customers are not unduly impacted by customers coming on on the existing rate-315.


If I could just add, the existing rate-315, again, is available mainly to existing customers.  If you look at our IGUA Interrogatory Response No. 93, we’ve identified criteria that we could use to ensure that this revision is applied fairly, and therefore, rate-315 is available to existing loads.  And I think we may even say that incremental loads that may be sold without a material increase in storage-transportation capacity would also qualify for service.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But not without the unbundling and the flexibility that you promised in the ADR agreement --

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe --

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- that's not available yet.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  No.  Well, the -- in terms of rate-315, what -315 offers today is an allocation of storage to a customer.  It does so at cost-based rates.  It does require customers to nominate for injections and withdrawals.  So it is not a semi-bundled rate that was being requested.  But if those parameters would work for an existing customer, rate-315 is currently available for them.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well I'm over my deadline, so I’ll have to let you have the last word -- which you’ve obtained anyway.  

     Those are my questions.  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  

     Mr. Millar, do you have any questions? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Just one very quick question, Madam Chair.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR: 

     MR. MILLAR:  If I could ask the panel to turn to tab 8 of Ms. DeMarco's document book, there is a report included in here, and it’s marked at the top as Exhibit 1, tab 25, schedule 83, page 1 of 10, attachment 11.   And this is a report prepared by Mr. Edwin Overcast.  Are you familiar with that report? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, we are.       

     MR. MILLAR:  I note that there’s no date on this report, and I'm just wondering if you could tell me when this report was prepared.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe it was prepared sometime in March. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Pardon me? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think it was sometime in March.  But could I get back to you on that? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes that would be fine.  Maybe we'll take an undertaking to that effect.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  Undertaking J8.4, and it's the date of the report titled "Report on Unbundling Rates for Delivery, Storage and Balancing”, authored by Edwin Overcast.  

UNDERTAKING J8.4:  TO PROVIDE THE DATE OF THE REPORT ENTITLED “REPORT ON UNBUNDLED RATES FOR DELIVERY, STORAGE AND BALANCING”, AUTHORED BY EDWIN OVERCAST, BEING EXHIBIT 1, TAB 25, SCHEDULE 83, PAGE 1 of 10, ATTACHMENT 11




     MR. MILLAR:  Those are my questions.

     Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  I have several questions, Madam Chair. 

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. O’LEARY:

     The first, Ms. Giridhar, is that you advised us in your evidence that the company actually did have a redesign proposal, that it submitted to customers for consultation purposes; is that correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And does that, therefore, indicate that the company could have, if it had decided it was appropriate, filed those redesigned rates with the Board, for its consideration in this proceeding?  If it had felt it was appropriate? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, we could have, with the caveat that the proposal before customers had -- did not have costs and pricing data.  But if we had chosen to go with the general concept, we would have then developed those elements, and we could have filed that.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And based upon the responses that you received from various customers, as to whether or not they felt that the redesigned rates, as proposed, included all the various features that they were looking for, what is your expectation as to the response of customers to those proposals, had they been filed in this proceeding? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Based on the response on that date of the stakeholder conference, our belief was that those rates would not have been an easy sell for these customers.  In other words, they would not have -- they might not have been acceptable to them.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  And then is -- I think you’ve indicated a part of the rate design process is to consider the impact, if any -- but, if there is one, the impact of redesigning one particular rate on other rates.  And -- is that correct? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  At the end of the day, once you've gone through the entire process - where the company has received requests for various features to rates, consulted with customers, come up with a proposal for redesign, and then actually costed-out what that means for a particular rate, after you have calculated the cost implications to other rates, can you advise or offer comment to the Board as to what guarantees the company would have that customers would, in fact, take up and use that newly-redesigned rate, now that they knew there were these costs associated with it? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  We would have no guarantees that they would be using these rates.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Ms. Giridhar, there was a discussion - I believe it was with Ms. DeMarco - about the fact that, in the overcast report, there is no -- there is only one reference to term-differentiated rates, right in the retainer section of the report.  

     My question to you is this.  Do you have any recollection of there being a discussion with customers during the consultative -- the stakeholder consultative that took place, relating to term-differentiated rates? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  We might have had a very limited discussion, in terms of term-differentiated rates on -- well, there were two consultative.  One was in December and -- where we sought feedback from customers.  And then there was the one in February, where we discussed the proposal.  

     At that December meeting, I believe what we heard from a customer was that, yes, they wanted term-differentiated rates, but only if they could get cheaper rates, over time.  In other words, the term-differentiation needed to be in the one direction:  that would be lower rates for signing up for longer periods of time 

     MR. O'LEARY:  And was there any consensus, that you recall, as to that length of the term that might apply? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm sorry.  My memory fails me, but I can't -- I would imagine they were looking at in excess of a year, and, potentially, between two and three years, but I can't recall an exact number of years that --  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Do you recall whether or not there was a specific proposal made in respect of term-differentiated rates, or was it just a general discussion, as you've indicated? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  It was just a general discussion.  

     At the subsequent stakeholder conference, in February, where we mentioned that we had considered that, but we didn't have a proposal at that point in time, we talked about the risk issues in offering fixed rates over a longer period of time, in a cost-of-service environment.  And there was a little bit of discussion on that issue, but nothing very conclusive 

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you. 

     My next question is a bit of a hypothetical.  If I was a customer who came forward and asked the company to redesign a rate, but I asked you to specifically exclude information -- or the company's belief as to future developments, including the potential impact of large, significant additional loads from, say, natural-gas-fired electricity generation, or anticipated policy directives from the Board, in respect of storage, what would the company's response be? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  The company's response would be that it would be -- it would not be prudent to exclude events that, we believe, would affect the ability to offer a rate in the near-term. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  And if you were asked by that customer to design a -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I object to this.  This is not re-examination.  This part of the examination in-chief, that he omitted to save time.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Well, Madam Chair, I would disagree with that.  These are the areas that were raised during the course of the examination by my friends, and I am trying to simply ensure that there is clarity on the record.  And I believe these questions are appropriate questions.  

     I can move on.  I think I just have one more.  

     I believe, in a response to Ms. DeMarco, Ms. Giridhar, you indicated that you were aware that the TransCanada pipeline tolls have recently decreased.  My question is, simply, do you know whether or not there is any potential for a change in those tolls in the test year, 2006? 

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  From the current level? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm not sure that I can respond to that, but I was under the impression that the current decrease was for a given period of time.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you.  

     Those are our questions, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary. 

[The Board confers] 

     MS. NOWINA:  The panel has no questions.  

     So on that note, we will adjourn until tomorrow morning at 9 o'clock. 

     The panel is excused.  Thank you very much, panel.  

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:15 p.m.    
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